



Turun yliopisto University of Turku

ERBB4 MUTATIONS IN CANCER AND AMYOTROPHIC LATERAL SCLEROSIS

Kari J. Kurppa

TURUN YLIOPISTON JULKAISUJA - ANNALES UNIVERSITATIS TURKUENSIS Sarja - ser. D osa - tom. 1152 | Medica - Odontologica | Turku 2014

University of Turku

Faculty of Medicine Department of Medical Biochemistry and Genetics MediCity Research Laboratory Turku doctoral programme of Molecular Medicine (TuDMM) Turku Doctoral Programme of Biomedical Sciences (TuBS)

Supervised by

Professor Klaus Elenius, MD, PhD Department of Medical Biochemistry and Genetics, and MediCity research laboratory University of Turku Turku, Finland

Reviewed by

Professor Robert Winqvist, PhD Laboratory of Cancer Genetics and Tumor Biology Department of Clinical Chemistry and Biocenter Oulu University of Oulu Oulu, Finland Docent Kaisa Lehti, PhD Research Programs Unit, Genome-Scale Biology, Biomedicum Helsinki University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Opponent

Professor Yosef Yarden Department of Biological Regulation Weizmann Institute of Science Rehovot, Israel

The originality of this thesis has been checked in accordance with the University of Turku quality assurance system using the Turnitin OriginalityCheck service.

ISBN 978-951-29-5968-6 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-29-5969-3 (PDF) ISSN 0355-9483 Painosalama Oy - Turku, Finland 2014

I almost wish I hadn't gone down that rabbit hole – and yet – and yet – it's rather curious, you know, this sort of life!

-Alice in Wonderland

Kari J. Kurppa

ERBB4 mutations in cancer and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis

Department of Medical Biochemistry and Genetics, and MediCity Research Laboratory, University of Turku, and Turku doctoral programme of Molecular Medicine (TuDMM) and Turku Doctoral Programme of Biomedical Sciences (TuBS), Turku, Finland

ABSTRACT

ErbB receptor tyrosine kinases, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR, also known as ErbB1), ErbB2 (HER2 or NEU), ErbB3 (HER3), and ErbB4 (HER4), transduce signals borne by extracellular ligands into central cellular responses such as proliferation, survival, differentiation, and apoptosis. Mutations in *ERBB* genes are frequently detected in human malignant diseases of epithelial and neural origin, making ErbB receptors important drug targets. Targeting EGFR and ErbB2 has been successful in eg. lung and breast cancer, respectively, and mutations in these genes can be used to select patients that are responsive to the targeted treatment.

Although somatic *ERBB4* mutations have been found in many high-incidence cancers such as melanoma, lung cancer, and colorectal cancer and germ-line *ERBB4* mutations have been linked to neuronal disorders and cancer, ErbB4 has generally been neglected as a potential drug target. Thus, the consequences of *ERBB4* mutations on ErbB4 biology are largely unknown. This thesis aimed to elucidate the functional consequences and assess the clinical significance of somatic and germ-line *ERBB4* mutations in the context of cancer and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis.

The results of this study indicated that cancer-associated *ERBB4* mutations can promote aberrant ErbB4 function by activating the receptor or inducing qualitative changes in ErbB4 signaling. *ERBB4* mutations increased survival or decreased differentiation *in vitro*, suggesting that *ERBB4* mutations can be oncogenic. Importantly, the potentially oncogenic mutations were located in various subdomains in ErbB4, possibly providing explanation for the characteristic scattered pattern of mutations in *ERBB4*. This study also demonstrated that hereditary variation in *ERBB4* gene can have a significant effect on the prognosis of breast cancer. In addition, it was shown that hereditary or *de novo* germ-line *ERBB4* mutations that predispose to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis inhibit ErbB4 activity.

Together, these results suggest that ErbB4 should be considered as a novel drug target in cancer and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis.

Kari J. Kurppa

ERBB4-geenin mutaatiot syövässä ja amyotrofisessa lateraaliskleroosissa

Lääketieteellinen biokemia ja genetiikka, MediCity-tutkimuslaboratorio, Turun yliopisto, ja Turun molekyylilääketieteen tohtoriohjelma (TuDMM), sekä Turun biolääketieteellinen tohtoriohjelma (TuBS), Turku

TIIVISTELMÄ

ErbB reseptorit, epidermaalisen kasvutekijän reseptori (EGFR tai ErbB1), ErbB2 (HER2 tai NEU), ErbB3 (HER3) ja ErbB4 (HER4), välittävät solun ulkopuolisten kasvutekijöiden tuomia signaaleja solun sisään, ja siten säätelevät keskeisiä solun toimintoja kuten kasvua, selviytymistä, erilaistumista ja kuolemaa. *ERBB*-geenien mutaatioita havaitaan toistuvasti eri syövissä. ErbB-reseptorit ovat merkittäviä lääkehoidon kohdemolekyylejä. Mutatoituneisiin EGFR- ja ErbB2-reseptoreihin kohdistettuja lääkehoitoja käytetään mm. keuhko- ja rintasyöpäpotilaiden hoidossa.

Somaattisia *ERBB4*-geenin mutaatioita on havaittu useissa yleisissä syövissä kuten melanoomassa, keuhkosyövässä sekä paksu- ja peräsuolisyövässä. *ERBB4*-geenistä on tunnistettu myös monia ituradan mukana periytyviä mutaatioita keskushermoston sairauksissa ja syövissä. ErbB4-reseptorin merkitys lääkehoidon kohteena tunnetaan kuitenkin huonosti. Tässä tutkimuksessa pyrittiin selvittämään, miten *ERBB4*-geenin mutaatioit vaikuttavat reseptorin toimintaan, sekä arvioimaan *ERBB4*-geenin mutaatioiden kliinistä merkitystä syövässä ja amyotrofisessa lateraaliskleroosissa.

Tutkimuksen tulokset osoittavat, että syövässä esiintyvät *ERBB4* geenin mutaatiot voivat johtaa epänormaaliin reseptorin toimintaan joko aktivoimalla reseptorin, tai aiheuttamalla muutoksia reseptorin solunsisäisessä viestinvälityksessä. Nämä muutokset johtivat lisääntyneeseen syöpäsolujen selviytymiseen tai vähentyneeseen solujen erilaistumiseen *in vitro*. Tulosten perusteella ErbB4-reseptorin mutaatiot voivat olla onkogeenisiä. Huomionarvoista on, että nämä mahdollisesti onkogeeniset mutaatiot olivat jakaantuneet useaan ErbB4-reseptorin rakenteelliseen alayksiköön. Tutkimuksessa osoitetiin myös, että *ERBB4*-geenin perinnöllinen variaatio voi vaikuttaa rintasyöpäpotilaan taudin ennusteeseen. Lisäksi tutkimuksessa näytettiin, että *ERBB4* geenin joko perinnölliset tai *de novo* ituradan mutaatiot, jotka altistavat amyotrofiselle lateraaliskleroosille, vähentävät ErbB4-reseptorin aktiivisuutta.

Tulosten perusteella mutatoitunut ErbB4-reseptori voi olla potentiaalinen lääkehoidon kohde syövässä ja amyotrofisessa lateraaliskleroosissa.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| A | BSTRACT | 4 |
|----|--|----|
| T | IIVISTELMÄ | 5 |
| A | BBREVIATIONS | 8 |
| L | IST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS | |
| | | |
| 1. | INTRODUCTION | 11 |
| 2. | REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE | 12 |
| | 2.1. Mutations cause cancer | 12 |
| | 2.1.1. Mutations in proto-oncogenes | 13 |
| | 2.1.2. Mutations in tumor suppressor genes and caretaker genes | 13 |
| | 2.1.3. Oncogenic proteins as targets for cancer therapeutics | 14 |
| | 2.1.4. Genomic variants and polymorphisms in cancer | 14 |
| | 2.2. Genetics of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis | 15 |
| | 2.3. ErbB receptors | 16 |
| | 2.3.1. Structure | 16 |
| | 2.3.2. Ligands | 18 |
| | 2.3.3. Mechanism of activation | 19 |
| | 2.3.4. Signaling pathways | 24 |
| | 2.3.5. Negative regulation of ErbB signaling | 27 |
| | 2.3.6. ErbB receptors in cancer | |
| | 2.4. ErbB4 | 30 |
| | 2.4.1. ErbB4 isoforms | |
| | 2.4.2. ErbB4 signaling | 31 |
| | 2.4.3. ErbB4 in neurological disorders | 32 |
| | 2.4.4. ErbB4 in cancer | 32 |
| 3. | AIMS OF THE STUDY | 36 |
| 4. | MATERIALS AND METHODS | 37 |
| | 4.1. Methods | |
| | 4.2. Plasmids | |
| | 4.3. Cell lines | |
| | 4.4. Reagents | |
| | 4.5. Antibodies | |

| 5. | RESULTS | 40 |
|--|---|----------------------------------|
| | 5.1. Cancer-associated <i>ERBB4</i> mutations can induce a qualitative shift in | |
| | ErbB4 signaling (I) | 40 |
| | 5.2. Mutations in various functional subdomains of ErbB4 can lead to | |
| | receptor activation (II) | 41 |
| | 5.3. Activating ErbB4 mutations promote survival in NIH 3T3 cells and | |
| | increase RIP-mediated ErbB4 signaling (II) | 42 |
| | 5.4. Oncogenic <i>ERBB4</i> kinase domain mutations are rare but present in breast | |
| | cancer (III) | 42 |
| | 5.5. <i>ERBB4</i> polymorphism has prognostic significance in breast cancer (III) | 43 |
| | 5.6. Causative germ-line <i>ERBB4</i> mutations in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis | |
| | inhibit <i>ERBB4</i> activity (IV) | 44 |
| | | |
| 6. | DISCUSSION | 45 |
| 6. | DISCUSSION | 45 |
| 6. | DISCUSSION6.1. The pattern of cancer-associated <i>ERBB4</i> mutations may not be random after all. | 45 |
| 6. | DISCUSSION | 45 45 47 |
| 6. | DISCUSSION | 45 45 47 48 |
| 7. | DISCUSSION | 45 45 47 48 50 |
| 6. 7. 8. | DISCUSSION | 45 45 47 48 50 |
| 6. 7. 8. | DISCUSSION | 45 45 47 48 50 51 |
| 6. 7. 8. 9. | DISCUSSION | 45 47 48 50 51 53 |

ABBREVIATIONS

| ADAM | a disintegrin and metalloprotease |
|----------|--|
| AKT | v-akt murine thymoma viral oncogene homolog |
| ALS | amyotrophic lateral sclerosis |
| AR | amphiregulin |
| BAD | BCL2-associated agonist of cell death |
| BCR-ABL | breakpoint cluster region - c-abl oncogene |
| BRCA | breast cancer 1 and 2, early onset predisposing genes |
| BTC | betacellulin |
| CDK | cyclin-dependent kinase |
| CML | chronic myeloid leukemia |
| CNS | central nervous system |
| CYT | cytoplasmic |
| DAG | diacylglycerol |
| DDFS | distant disease-free survival |
| DEP1 | density-enhanced phosphatase-1 |
| DNA | deoxyribonucleic acid |
| EGF | epidermal growth factor |
| EGFR | epidermal growth factor receptor |
| EGFRvIII | EGFR variant III |
| EPG | epigen |
| ER | epiregulin |
| ER | estrogen receptor |
| ERK | extracellular signal regulated kinase |
| FALS | familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis |
| FDA | United States food and drug administration |
| FUS | fused in sarcoma |
| GBM | glioblastoma multiforme |
| GRB2 | growth factor receptor -bound protein 2 |
| HB-EGF | heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor |
| HIF-1a | hypoxia-inducible factor 1a |
| HNPCC | hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer |
| ICD | intracellular domain |
| IL-3 | interleukin-3 |
| IP3 | inositol triphosphate |
| ITCH | itchy E3 ubiquitin protein ligase |
| JM | juxtamembrane |
| kD | kiloDalton |
| KRAS | kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog |
| LRIG1 | leucine-rich repeats and immunoglobulin-like domains-1 |

| mAb | monoclonal antibody |
|--------|--|
| MAPK | mitogen-activated protein kinase |
| MEK | mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase |
| MIG6 | mitogen-inducible gene-6 |
| MLH | mutL homolog |
| MMP | matrix metalloprotease |
| MSH | mutS homolog |
| MTT | 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide |
| NRG | neuregulin |
| NSCLC | non-small cell lung cancer |
| OPTN | optineurin |
| PDGFRA | platelet-derived growth factor alpha |
| PDK1 | 3-phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1 |
| PI3K | phosphoinositol-3 kinase |
| PIAS3 | protein inhibitor of activated STAT3 |
| PIP2 | phosphoinositol-2-phosphate |
| PIP3 | phosphoinositol-3-phosphate |
| РКС | protein kinase C |
| PLC-γ | phospholipase Cy |
| PR | progesterone receptor |
| PTB | phosphotyrosine-binding |
| PTEN | phosphatase and tensin homologue |
| PTK | protein tyrosine kinase |
| PTP | phosphotyrosine phosphatase |
| RAF | v-RAF murine viral oncogene homolog |
| RIP | regulated intramembrane proteolysis |
| RT-PCR | reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction |
| RTK | receptor tyrosine kinase |
| SALS | sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis |
| SH2 | SRC-homology 2 |
| SHC | SHC transforming protein |
| SNP | single nucleotide polymorphism |
| SOD1 | superoxide dismutase 1 |
| SOS | son of sevenless |
| STAT | signal transducer and activator of transcription |
| TCGA | the cancer genome atlas |
| TDP43 | TAR DNA binding protein 43 |
| TGF-α | transforming growth factor α |
| TKI | tyrosine kinase inhibitor |
| ТМ | transmembrane |
| UBQLN2 | ubiquilin-2 |
| WWOX | WW domain containing oxidoreductase |
| YAP | YES-associated protein |

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications, which will be referred to by their Roman numerals (I-IV).

- Tvorogov D, Sundvall M, Kurppa K, Hollmén M, Repo S, Johnson MS, Elenius K. Somatic mutations of *ERBB4*: selective loss-of-function phenotype affecting signal transduction pathways in cancer. J Biol Chem 2009, 284: 5582-5591.
- II. Kurppa KJ, Denessiouk K, Johnson MS, Elenius K. Activating somatic *ERBB4* mutations in non-small cell lung cancer. Manuscript.
- III. Kurppa KJ, Rokavec M, Sundvall M, Kellokumpu-Lehtinen PL, Joensuu H, Brauch H, Elenius K. *ERBB4* promoter polymorphism is associated with poor distant disease-free survival in high-risk early breast cancer. PLoS One 2014 9:e102388.
- IV. Takahashi Y, Fukuda Y, Yoshimura J, Toyoda A, Kurppa K, Moritoyo H, Belzil VV, Dion PA, Higasa K, Doi K, Ishiura H, Mitsui J, Date H, Ahsan B, Matsukawa T, Ichikawa Y, Moritoyo T, Ikoma M, Hashimoto T, Kimura F, Murayama S, Onodera O, Nishizawa M, Yoshida M, Atsuta N, Sobue G; JaCALS, Fifita JA, Williams KL, Blair IP, Nicholson GA, Gonzalez-Perez P, Brown RH Jr, Nomoto M, Elenius K, Rouleau GA, Fujiyama A, Morishita S, Goto J, Tsuji S. *ERBB4* mutations that disrupt the neuregulin-ErbB4 pathway cause amyotrophic lateral sclerosis type 19. Am J Hum Genet. 2013, 93:900-905.

The original publications are reproduced with the permission of the copyright owners.

1. INTRODUCTION

The ErbB family of receptor tyrosine kinases consists of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR, ErbB1), ErbB2 (HER2), ErbB3 (HER3) and ErbB4 (HER4). ErbB receptors function as mediators of extracellular signals borne by eleven EGF-like ErbB ligands into activation of a variety of intracellular signaling pathways governing central cellular processes such as proliferation, survival, differentiation and apoptosis. *ERBB* gene alterations resulting in aberrant activity of ErbB receptors are frequently detected in malignancies of epithelial and neural origin. These genetic alterations can serve as biomarkers to select patients that are responsive to drugs specifically designed to inhibit the activity of ErbB receptors.

While *EGFR* and *ERBB2* are well-established human proto-oncogenes that encode specific targets of clinically used ErbB-targeted cancer drugs, *ERBB4* has gained much less attention. However, somatic *ERBB4* mutations have been identified in many high-incidence tumors such as melanoma, lung cancer and colorectal cancer, and genomic germ-line *ERBB4* variants and polymorphisms have been linked to neuronal disorders and cancer. The consequences of *ERBB4* mutations on ErbB4 biology are, however, largely unknown and the question whether mutated ErbB4 receptor could be a drug target remains unanswered.

The aims of this thesis work were to elucidate the functional consequences and analyze the clinical significance of somatic and germ-line *ERBB4* mutations in cancer and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in order to evaluate the potential role of mutated ErbB4 as a drug target.

2. **REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

2.1. Mutations cause cancer

The genomic sequences in cells are constantly subjected to corruption due to various mechanisms that introduce mistakes, or mutations, into the DNA. While mutations are acquired naturally in every cell division, cells are also exposed to various environmental mutagens such as tobacco smoke, radiation and chemicals. In spite of elaborate repair mechanisms to prevent the formation and propagation of these mutations, some of the mutations go unrepaired and are carried on to cell's progeny as the cell divides. Although acquiring mutations is a natural process, creating genetic and subsequent phenotypic heterogeneity of species and essentially enabling evolution, it can also have pathological consequences.

Cancer is thought to develop when cells over a long period of time gradually acquire somatic mutations that, in one way or another, give the cells a growth advantage over surrounding cells, resulting in a series of clonal expansions. Cells in a typical solid tumor can harbor thousands of mutations (Kandoth et al. 2013). However, a great majority of the mutations are passenger mutations, *i.e.* mutations that do not significantly contribute to tumorigenesis (Vogelstein et al. 2013). Early epidemiological studies suggested that solid tumors needed 5-8 consecutive "hits" in order to develop (Armitage and Doll 1954; Vogelstein et al. 2013). Later studies have shown that these "hits" represent acquired somatic mutations and that cultured human cells can be transformed by disrupting a similar number of cellular regulatory pathways (Hahn et al. 1999; Hahn and Weinberg 2002). This implied that there are certain characteristics normal cells have to acquire through mutations in order to become cancerous. Hanahan and Weinberg proposed six hallmarks of cancer that represent these characteristics: sustaining proliferative signaling, evading growth suppressors, resisting cell death, enabling replicative immortality, inducing angiogenesis, and activating invasion and metastasis (Hanahan and Weinberg 2000). The mutations within tumors that enable the cancer cells to acquire these characteristics and thus directly contribute to tumorigenesis are referred to as driver mutations.

The list of characteristics seems extensive for only a small number of driver mutations to achieve. These cellular processes are, however, governed by a limited number of entwined pathways forming the cellular signaling circuitry (Vogelstein et al. 2013). Thus, a mutation in a gene allowing the cell to sustain proliferative signaling might be in the same pathway or interconnected to a pathway regulating, for example, cell death, explaining at least in part how such a small number of mutations can induce so profound changes in cell behavior. The accumulated knowledge on the nature of the genes involved in tumorigenesis has allowed the division of genes commonly mutated

in cancer into three types: proto-oncogenes, tumor suppressor genes and stability, or "caretaker" genes (Vogelstein et al. 2013).

2.1.1. Mutations in proto-oncogenes

Proto-oncogenes are by definition genes that, once activated by mutations or overexpression, have potential to cause malignant transformation and thus tumors. These proteins are typically constituents of major cellular signaling pathways promoting cell proliferation, growth and survival. The activated proto-oncogenes, oncogenes, often induce the constitutive activation of the signaling pathway they are part of, thus uncoupling the pathway from its normal regulation and promoting cell transformation.

Many of the now classical human proto-oncogenes were initially discovered as human homologs of oncogenes carried by transforming retoviruses that induce tumors in chicken or rodents (Bishop 1985). The viral genes were often altered forms of their normal counterparts, first introducing the concept of oncogenes and proto-oncogenes (Stehelin et al. 1976). For example, *KRAS* (kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog), a human homolog of the viral K-*ras* gene identified from Kirsten sarcoma virus, encode a critical signal mediator GTPase in the MAPK (mitogen-activated protein kinase) pathway (see chapter 2.3.4.). The viral gene harbors a subtle point mutation that changes a single glycine residue at codon 12 into serine (Tsuchida et al. 1982), resulting in constitutive activation of the protein product and thus, the pathway.

Although human cells that harbor an activated proto-oncogene gain a growth advantage over the neighboring normal cells, a single oncogene is not able to induce transformation of normal cells on its own. In contrast, it causes cellular senescence and apoptosis (Serrano et al. 1997; Collado and Serrano 2010). This is due to actions of tumor suppressor genes.

2.1.2. Mutations in tumor suppressor genes and caretaker genes

Whereas proto-oncogenes are components of pathways designed to provide signals promoting cell growth and proliferation, the tumor suppressor genes are constituents of pathways whose purpose is the opposite, to monitor cellular signaling and integrity and to counteract by regulating cell cycle progression, inhibiting excessive signaling, or by committing the cell into apoptosis if necessary. Tumor suppressor genes thus represent the main barriers for the formation of cancer. A multitude of tumor suppressor genes have been identified, based on their frequent inactivation in human cancer by various mechanisms, including mutations (Hanahan and Weinberg 2011).

The most well-known human tumor suppressor genes are *RB* and *TP53* (also known as *P53*) (Junttila and Evan 2009; Burkhart and Sage 2008; Sherr and McCormick 2002). The Rb protein functions as gatekeeper of the cell cycle, integrating growth-promoting and -inhibitory signals from various intra- and extracellular pathways, ultimately deciding whether or not the cell should proceed further through the cell cycle. The p53 protein

functions as the guardian of cell integrity and is activated when a cell is challenged by stress or abnormality, such as DNA damage or excessive, oncogenic signaling. Activation of p53 results in rapid cell cycle arrest and, in case the DNA lesions cannot be repaired or the oncogenic signaling persists, p53 commits the cell into apoptosis. Due to their central role in controlling the life and death decisions in cells, the Rb and p53 proteins are inactivated either directly or indirectly in practically all human tumors (Junttila and Evan 2009; Burkhart and Sage 2008; Sherr and McCormick 2002).

Genomic mutations are often acquired in cancer cells in an accelerated pace when compared to normal cells (Kandoth et al. 2013). Normal cells harbor a sophisticated DNA repair machinery, designed to sensor and repair DNA lesions as they occur. In cancer cells, however, mutations in the components of this machinery, the so-called caretaker genes are common (Kandoth et al. 2013), resulting in inappropriate repair of mutations. This leads to rapidly accelerated accumulation of mutations and thus increases the probability of a cancer cell to acquire additional critical mutations.

2.1.3. Oncogenic proteins as targets for cancer therapeutics

Activation of a proto-oncogene is usually an early step in cancer development (Fearon and Vogelstein 1990). Although in the course of cancer evolution the acquisition of genomic mutations and subsequent divergent clonal expansions result in genetically very heterogenous populations of cancer cells, the proliferation of cancer cells in tumors is often still driven by the oncogene that was activated in the initial steps. These cancer cells are dependent, or "addicted", on the growth-promoting signaling provided by the oncogene, a phenomenon referred to as oncogene addiction (Weinstein and Joe 2008). This phenomenon makes oncogenic proteins prime targets for therapeutic cancer drugs. The first clinically used cancer drug specifically targeting an oncogene product was imatinib, a small molecular weight tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) inhibiting the activity of the BCR-ABL (breakpoint cluster region - c-abl oncogene) fusion oncoprotein that is found in more than 95% of patients with chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) (Savage and Antman 2002). Following the success of imatinib, a large number of specifically targeted cancer drugs are now in clinical use, many of which target the ErbB receptor tyrosine kinases, the focus of this thesis (Arteaga and Engelman 2014).

2.1.4. Genomic variants and polymorphisms in cancer

Cancer typically arises due to accumulating somatic mutations, *i.e.* mutations that are not present in the germ-line. However, the natural diversity in genomic constitution between individuals, certain genomic variants and gene polymorphism, can also play a role in the development of cancer. Indeed, it is estimated that various constitutional genomic defects resulting in hereditary susceptibility to cancer underlie 5-10% of all cancer cases.

Germ-line mutations affecting tumor suppressor genes, caretaker genes or protooncogenes can give the affected individuals a head-start in tumorigenesis as all cells in these individuals already harbor a cancer-promoting mutation (Vogelstein and Kinzler 2004). These often relatively rare mutations predispose to cancer, but they do not cause cancer *per se*. Rare genomic variants causing the most common forms of hereditary cancer, hereditary breast cancer and hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (or Lynch syndrome), affect the *BRCA* (*BRCA1* and *BRCA2*) and the *MSH* and *MLH* caretaker genes, respectively (Narod and Foulkes 2004; Kinzler and Vogelstein 1996). Mutations in these genes, involved in DNA repair, result in abnormal accumulation of somatic mutations and dramatically increased susceptibility to cancer (Narod and Foulkes 2004; Kinzler and Vogelstein 1996).

The role of common germ-line polymorphisms and other variants in the outcome of cancer is a less well studied field. Most of these genetic variants reported to associate with cancer prognosis seem to affect the outcome by various indirect mechanisms. Common variants with prognostic significance have been reported mainly in genes involved in drug metabolism, transport and DNA repair which modulate the response to cancer drugs or irradiation (Deenen et al. 2011a, 2011b, 2011c). Some genomic polymorphisms seem to be associated with subtypes of cancer with intrinsically worse prognosis (Sakamoto et al. 2008), and some affect genes modulating immune responses (Kim et al. 2009; Ward et al. 2012).

2.2. Genetics of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is a devastating neurodegenerative disease affecting the motor neurons. The peak age at onset of ALS is 58-63 years and the patients exhibit progressive paralysis ultimately leading to death by respiratory failure typically 3-5 years after initial symptoms (Kiernan et al. 2011). It has been proposed that more than 20% of the cases have a family history of ALS (Andersen and Al-Chalabi 2011), indicating a strong inherited genetic contribution to the disease. ALS is thus commonly divided into familial ALS (FALS) and sporadic ALS (SALS). However, this segregation may not always be accurate, because in many cases there is not enough available information and DNA samples from the patients' pedigree to exclude a family history from apparently sporadic cases of ALS. In addition, FALS and SALS are clinically indistinguishable, except for the typically younger age at onset for FALS (47-52 years) (Kiernan et al. 2011; Andersen and Al-Chalabi 2011).

The genetic etiology of ALS is still largely unresolved and much effort has been put into finding genes predisposing to ALS by searching for disease-associated germline gene mutations (polymorphisms) in ALS patients. A total of 114 genes have been associated with ALS according to the Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Online Genetics Database (http://alsod.iop.kcl.ac.uk, reviewed 15.8.2014), although a causal link for the majority of these genes is not clear. However, there are more than twenty genes with accumulating evidence of causal link to ALS pathogenesis. Still, mutations in these genes have been estimated to account for 25-35% of FALS and 5-10% of SALS, at most (Andersen and Al-Chalabi 2011). By mutation prevalence, three genes, *SOD1* (superoxide dismutase 1), *TDP43* (TAR DNA binding protein 43) and *FUS* (fused in sarcoma), are considered to be the most important causative ones (Millecamps et al. 2010; Tsai et al. 2011; Andersen and Al-Chalabi 2011).

The molecular mechanisms by which the ALS-associated genes contribute to the pathogenesis of ALS are still largely elusive. However, the protein products of several ALS-associated genes, such as *TDP43* and *FUS*, as well as emerging ALS-genes *OPTN* (optineurin), *UBQLN2* (ubiquilin-2) and *C9ORF72* are frequently observed in neuronal inclusions which are characteristic for ALS pathology (Blokhuis et al. 2013). Also, ALS-associated *SOD1* mutations have been shown to promote SOD1 aggregation in cells (Karch et al. 2009; Prudencio et al. 2009; Prudencio and Borchelt 2011), and all mutant SOD1-induced mouse models of ALS show neuronal SOD1 aggregates at the end stage of the disease (Wang et al. 2003, 2005, 2006; Johnston et al. 2000; Karch et al. 2009). These observations suggest that protein aggregation may have a similar role in ALS pathogenesis as in other neurogenerative disorders such as Huntington's disease and Alzheimer's disease (Blokhuis et al. 2013; Ross and Tabrizi 2011; Querfurth and Laferla 2010), although this hypothesis still remains to be proven.

2.3. ErbB receptors

Protein phosphorylation is a post-translational modification regulating signal transduction in mammalian cells. The transfer of a phosphate group from ATP (adenosine triphosphate) to a protein substrate is catalyzed by protein kinases. Out of more than 520 known protein kinase genes in the human genome, over 90 encode kinases that catalyze the phosphorylation of specific tyrosine residues in target proteins (protein tyrosine kinases, PTK) (Blume-Jensen and Hunter 2001). Receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) are a family of transmembrane PTKs encompassing 58 genes divided into 20 subfamilies. The genes encoding RTKs are very potent proto-oncogenes and frequently deregulated in human cancer by overexpression, autocrine activation, chromosomal translocations or gain-of-function mutations (Lemmon and Schlessinger 2010). The ErbB subfamily of RTKs contains four genes, encoding ErbB1 (epidermal growth factor receptor, EGFR) (Ullrich et al. 1984), ErbB2 (HER2) (Stern et al. 1986), ErbB3 (HER3) (Plowman et al. 1990), and ErbB4 (HER4) (Plowman et al. 1993).

2.3.1. Structure

All ErbB receptors share an identical overall structure with an extracellular domain, a single transmembrane (TM) domain, an intracellular domain containing the tyrosine

kinase enzyme and a C-terminal tail harboring docking sites for signal transduction molecules. The ErbB receptors are heavily glycosylated and have a molecular weight of approximately 180 kD (Figure 1). EGFR are ErbB4 are fully functional receptors, whereas ErbB2 lacks a known ligand (Lemmon et al. 2014) and ErbB3 harbors an inactive kinase domain (Guy et al. 1994).

The extracellular domain can be divided into four distinct subdomains named I, II, III and IV (Lax et al. 1988), or alternatively L1, CR1, L2, CR2 (Ward and Garrett 2001). Ligand binding domains I and III are globular domains of the leucine-rich repeat superfamily and adopt a right-handed beta helix structure. Cysteine-rich domains II and IV are rod-like domains, characterized by multiple disulphide bonds and contain elements involved in receptor autoinhibition and dimerization (Figure 1).

The transmembrane domain is a single hydrophobic alpha helix docking the receptor on the cell membrane. The TM domain can also facilitate receptor dimerization, as emphasized by the cancer-associated point mutation in the ErbB2 TM domain (the *neu* oncogene) that promotes dimerization and activation of the neu oncoprotein (Weiner et al. 1989; Bargmann and Weinberg 1988). EGFR TM domain dimerization has been shown to be mediated by dimerization motifs in the N-terminal region of the TM domain (Endres et al. 2013). However, mutations in this region do not completely abolish EGFR activation, suggesting some degree of plasticity in the dimerization of the TM domains (Lu et al. 2010; Endres et al. 2013).

The intra- and extracellular juxtamembrane (JM) regions flanking the cell membrane have functions related to receptor regulation and activation. The intracellular JM region is important in mediating EGFR downregulation (Sorkin and Goh 2009). In addition, the intracellular JM region is necessary for proper receptor activation by facilitating kinase domain dimer formation (Thiel and Carpenter 2007; Jura et al. 2009a; Red Brewer et al. 2009). The extracellular JM region is involved in the unique ability of ErbB4 to release a signaling-competent intracellular domain (Elenius et al. 1997a). This phenomenon will be discussed in detail later.

The kinase domain of ErbB receptors have a two-lobed structure typical for all previously reported protein kinase domains (Figure 1) (Stamos et al. 2002). It consists of a NH₂-terminal lobe (N-lobe), formed mostly of β -strands apart from one α -helix (α C), and a mostly α -helical COOH-terminal lobe (C-lobe). The two lobes are separated by a cleft harboring the ATP-binding site. The active site is formed around the ATP-binding cleft with catalytic elements both in N- and C-lobes. (Stamos et al. 2002).

The C-terminal tail following the kinase domain contains several tyrosine residues that are phosphorylated upon receptor activation and serve as docking sites for signaling proteins and regulators (Schulze et al. 2005), some of which are discussed in more detail later.



Figure 1: Structures and ligands of ErbB receptors. Top: ErbB ligands grouped according to their specificity towards different ErbB receptors (arrows). Below: schematic representation of protein structures of ErbB receptors in the inactive state. The extracellular domain of ErbB2 does not adopt a closed, inactive conformation. Roman numerals indicate subdomains within the extracellular domain. Black cross indicates the inactive ErbB3 kinase domain.

2.3.2. Ligands

The activity of ErbB receptors is modulated by 11 epidermal growth factor (EGF) -like ligands with different binding specificities to ErbB receptors (Figure 1). EGF, transforming growth factor alpha (TGF- α), amphiregulin (AR), heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor (HB-EGF), betacellulin (BTC), epiregulin (EPR), and epigen (EPG) bind and activate EGFR (Riese II et al. 1996b; Strachan et al. 2001). HB-EGF, BTC, and EPR can also serve as ligands for ErbB4 (Elenius et al. 1997b; Riese II et al. 1996a). Neuregulins (NRG-1, NRG-2, NRG-3, NRG-4) are a family of ligands partially shared by ErbB3 and ErbB4. All neuregulins activate ErbB4, whereas NRG-1 and NRG-2 can also bind and activate ErbB3 (Carraway et al. 1997; Chang et al. 1997; Harari et al. 1999; Zhang et al. 1997). ErbB2 seems to be an orphan receptor, as no high-affinity ligand has been indentified for ErbB2 (Lemmon et al. 2014).

The ErbB ligands are synthesized as membrane-bound precursors and are released from the cell membrane by metalloprotease-mediated cleavage, enabling paracrine and autocrine signaling (Sanderson et al. 2006). The main metalloporteinases responsible for the release of ErbB ligands belong to the ADAM (a disintegrin and metalloprotease) and MMP (matrix metalloprotease) families (Sanderson et al. 2006). All ErbB ligands share a conserved motif known as the EGF-motif, which is responsible for receptor binding and activation, and consists of six conserved cysteine residues forming three intramolecular disulphide bonds. All ErbB ligands seem to bind their receptors in identical manner, but can elicit a wide range of biological responses, depending on the ligand (Wilson et al. 2009). It has been proposed that different ligands may induce subtly different conformational changes in the ErbB receptor extracellular domains, which may at least partly account for the diverse biological responses (Wilson et al. 2009). However, the divergent binding specificities of ErbB ligands and the subsequent formation of different homo- or heterodimeric ErbB complexes most likely also explain these differences.

2.3.3. Mechanism of activation

Ligand binding induces conformational rearrangements in the ErbB extracellular domain that facilitate receptor dimerization

The extracellular domains of EGFR, ErbB3 and ErbB4 can adopt an open and a closed conformation, representing active and autoinhibited, inactive forms, respectively. In the absence of ligand, the extracellular domain is mostly in the closed conformation, stabilized by intermolecular hydrogen bonding between subdomains II and IV (Figure 2). The closed conformation buries the dimerization arm, an extended β-hairpin loop from the subdomain II that is critical for receptor dimerization, thus restricting receptor dimerization and activation (Cho and Leahy 2002; Bouyain et al. 2005; Ferguson et al. 2003). Upon activation, the extracellular domain undergoes major structural rearrangement, where subdomains I and II rotate upward around the subdomain II/III "hinge" region, bringing subdomains I and III into close proximity in order to facilitate the binding of a bivalent ligand between subdomains I and III (Figure 2) (Garrett et al. 2002; Ogiso et al. 2002; Liu et al. 2012). Ligand binding stabilizes the open conformation, revealing the dimerization arm and priming the receptor for dimerization (Figure 2) (Garrett et al. 2002; Digiso et al. 2002; Liu et al. 2002; Liu et al. 2012).

Although adopting the open conformation, in order to expose the dimerization arm, is essential for ErbB dimerization (Garrett et al. 2002) it is not sufficient to promote efficient dimerization. Mutating the subdomain II/IV interface in full-length EGFR does not lead to constitutively activated receptor (Mattoon et al. 2004; Walker et al. 2004; Dawson et al. 2005), and EGFR extracellular domains lacking the entire subdomain IV are still dependent on ligand binding for dimerization (Garrett et al. 2002; Ogiso et al. 2002). A bend in subdomain II, induced by ligand binding to subdomains I and III, has been proposed to be the ultimate conformational change regulating ErbB dimerization (Dawson et al. 2005; Alvarado et al. 2010; Liu et al. 2012). This bending enables the optimal juxtaposition of monomeric receptors for dimerization (Alvarado et al. 2010;



Figure 2: Mechanism of activation of ErbB receptors. Left: in the inactive state, the extracellular domains of ErbB receptors, except for ErbB2, are in closed conformation, masking the dimerization interfaces in subdomain II and IV (indicated by circles). Middle: upon ligand binding, the extracellular domain extends, revealing the dimerization interfaces. Ligand binding stabilizes the extended, open conformation and primes the receptor for dimerization. Right: dimerized receptors make extensive contacts throughout the length of the receptors, leading to the activation of the tyrosine kinase domains and phosphorylation of tyrosine residues in the COOH-terminal tails (indicated by yellow circles).

Liu et al. 2012) and is thought to serve as a barrier preventing the dimerization of spontaneously occurring unligated ErbB dimers (Alvarado et al. 2010; Liu et al. 2012).

Once dimerized, the extracellular domains of ErbB receptors make extensive interreceptor contacts mediated mainly by subdomains II and IV (Figure 2). However, a mutation analysis has shown that the ErbB extracellular domain dimers are mostly stabilized by subdomain II contacts, subdomain IV contacts providing only a minor contribution to the overall dimerization energy (Dawson et al. 2005). As the dimerized ErbB monomers interact substantially throughout the length of the receptor (discussed in detail later), it is possible that the subdomain IV interactions are more important in optimally positioning the transmembrane and intracellular domains for activation.

Unique structural features of ErbB2

ErbB2 is unique among ErbB receptors as it adopts a constitutively extended conformation, and is thus constantly poised for dimerization (Figure 1) (Cho et al. 2003; Garrett et al. 2003). The amino acid residues responsible for the subdomain II / IV interaction observed in the closed conformation of other ErbBs are not conserved in ErbB2, preventing the formation of the closed conformation in ErbB2 (Cho et al. 2003; Garrett et al. 2003). In

addition, the open conformation of the ErbB2 extracellular domain is stabilized by an interaction between subdomains I and III, mimicking the ligand-mediated stabilization of the open conformation in other ErbB receptors (Figures 1 and 2) (Cho et al. 2003; Garrett et al. 2003). These unique structural features together with amino acid substitutions in the ligand binding site that would inhibit ligand binding in EGFR (Cho et al. 2003; Garrett et al. 2003) rationalize the lack of known ligands for ErbB2.

However, although ligand binding is not needed for the ErbB2 extracellular domain to adopt the open conformation, the formation of ErbB2 homodimers is very weak (Ferguson et al. 2000; Cho et al. 2003; Garrett et al. 2003). The structure of the ErbB2 extracellular domain provides a possible explanation for this apparent discrepancy. In contrast to other ErbB receptors, the dimerization loop and the subdomain II pocket into which the tip of the dimerization loop docks are negatively charged in ErbB2, leading to electrostatic repulsion not favoring the formation of ErbB2 homodimers (Garrett et al. 2003). In addition, the subdomain II of ErbB2 extracellular domain does not adopt the bent conformation seen in ligand-bound EGFR and ErbB4 structures (Garrett et al. 2003; Ogiso et al. 2002; Liu et al. 2012), preventing the optimal juxtaposition of extracellular domains in ErbB2 homodimers (Liu et al. 2012). However, these structural features preventing ErbB2 homodimerization do not prevent ErbB2 heterodimerization with other ErbB receptors. Indeed, ErbB2 has been shown to be the preferred heterodimerizing partner for all ErbB receptors (Tzahar et al. 1996; Graus-Porta et al. 1997) and ErbB2containing ErbB heteromers are considered to be the most oncogenic of all ErbB receptor homo- or heterodimeric complexes (Zhang et al. 1996; Cohen et al. 1996).

Negative co-operativity of ligand binding

The crystal structures of Drosophila EGFR (dEGFR) have shed light into the puzzling existence of high- and low-affinity ligand binding classes of ErbB receptors (King and Cuatrecasas 1982; Schlessinger 1986). The discovery of open and closed conformations of EGFR and ErbB3 (Garrett et al. 2002; Ogiso et al. 2002; Cho and Leahy 2002; Garrett et al. 2003) suggested a hypothesis that these conformations could be the sources of high- and low affinity ligand binding, respectively. However, that hypothesis was proven wrong soon after (Klein et al. 2004; Walker et al. 2004; Dawson et al. 2005).

Later, a biochemical study suggested that the high- and low affinity EGF binding could result from negative co-operativity of ligand binding to EGFR, i.e. the binding of the first ligand hinders the binding of the second ligand (Macdonald and Pike 2008). The crystal structure of ligand-bound dEGFR dimer revealed the structural mechanisms underlying this phenomenon (Alvarado et al. 2010). The ligand for dEGFR, Spitz, binds to one receptor monomer in weak, preformed dEGFR dimers and induces a conformational change in the subdomain II of the extracellular domain (Alvarado et al. 2010), analogous to the bend observed in human EGFR and ErbB4 (Garrett et al. 2003; Liu et al. 2012). This conformational change allows tight interaction between the subdomains II of the

dimerized dEGFR extracellular domains and results in receptor activation (Alvarado et al. 2010). The second ligand, however, cannot effectively bind to the other monomer without compromizing the tight interaction of the singly-ligated dimer, and therefore has to occupy a compromized binding site with lower affinity (Alvarado et al. 2010). Thus, in dEGFR, the binding of first and second ligand in the preformed dimer represent the observed high-and low-affinity ligand binding classes, rather than two separate populations of receptors (as in the case of open and closed conformations of extracellular domains).

Although singly-ligated human ErbB dimers have not been observed, a detailed analysis of EGFR and ErbB4 extracellular domains and *in vitro* experiments with mutated EGFR and ErbB4 have provided evidence that singly ligated human ErbB dimers could be active (Liu et al. 2012). The physiological implications of the proposed two-step ligand binding are not yet understood, but it has been proposed to be involved in the fine-tuning of ErbB signaling output according to the concentration or affinity of different ErbB ligands (Alvarado et al. 2010; Lemmon et al. 2014).

Allosteric activation mechanism of ErbB kinase domains

The dimerization of the ErbB extracellular domains ultimately leads to activation of the kinase domains of the dimerized receptors (Figure 2). The activation of most protein kinases is dependent on activation loop phosphorylation (Jura et al. 2011). However, the activation of ErbB receptors is not, although all ErbB receptors harbor a conserved phosphorylation site which in EGFR (Tyr845) is robustly phosphorylated following ligand binding (Gotoh et al. 1992).



Figure 3: The asymmetric kinase dimer. Upon dimerization, the kinase domains of ErbB receptors interact in head-to-tail manner, where one kinase domain serves as an activator and the other as a receiver. This interaction is stabilized by the juxtamembrane region between the cell membrane and the kinase domains. The juxtamembrane region of the receiver kinase interacts with the C-lobe of the activator kinase, forming a "juxtamembrane latch" that stabilizes the asymmetric dimer. Closer to the cell membrane, the juxtamembrane regions also interact via short helixes, further supporting the kinase dimer. The interaction of kinase domains results in the activator kinase in *trans*. The dashed line indicates the hypothetical route of the activator kinase C-terminal tail through the active site of the receiver kinase. Blue cylinders and lines indicate the orientations of α C helix and the activation loop, respectively, in active (receiver kinase) and inactive (activator kinase) states. Figure modified from Jura et al. 2009.

Instead of activation loop phosphorylation, the activity of ErbB receptor kinase domains is regulated allosterically, through interaction between the two kinase domains of dimerized receptors (Zhang et al. 2006). The allosteric activation mechanism was first described for EGFR (Zhang et al. 2006), and in later studies also shown to mediate the activation of other ErbB receptors in homo- and heterodimers (Jura et al. 2009b; Monsey et al. 2010; Qiu et al. 2008). Upon dimerization, the kinase domains interact in head-to-tail manner, where the bottom of the C-lobe of one kinase (the activator kinase) contacts the top of the N-lobe of the other (the receiver kinase) (Figures 2 and 3) (Zhang et al. 2006). The interaction stabilizes the active conformation of the receiver kinase and results in phosphorylation of the activator receptor monomer in *trans*. This mechanism of regulating kinase activity closely resembles the mechanism of how the cyclin-dependent kinases (CDK) are regulated by cyclins, and is unique among RTKs (Bae and Schlessinger 2010).

The asymmetric kinase dimer is weak, however, and isolated EGFR kinase domains remain mostly monomeric and inactive in solution, even in relatively high concentrations (Jura et al. 2009a; Zhang et al. 2006). The interaction between kinase monomers in the asymmetric dimer, and thus the proper activation of the kinases, has been shown to be mediated by the intracellular juxtamembrane domain (Thiel and Carpenter 2007; Jura et al. 2009a; Red Brewer et al. 2009; Macdonald-Obermann and Pike 2009). Crystal structures of EGFR and ErbB4 kinase domains demonstrated that JM region above the N-terminus of the receiver kinase packs against the C-lobe of the activator kinase, forming a "juxtamembrane latch", thus docking the two kinase domains in place (Figure 3) (Jura et al. 2009a; Red Brewer et al. 2009). In addition, the N-terminal parts of the JM regions form short interacting helixes, which further support the asymmetric dimer (Figure 3) (Jura et al. 2009a). Interestingly, the juxtamembrane latch is occupied by the C-terminal tail of the kinase in the absence of asymmetric dimer, putatively providing an autoinhibitory mechanism restricting spontaneous dimerization of the kinase domains (Figure 2) (Jura et al. 2009a).

In crystal structures of asymmetric EGFR kinase domains including the JM regions, the very N-termini of the JM-regions align very well with the C-termini of transmembrane domain dimer NMR structures, suggesting that the juxtaposition of dimerized ErbB extracellular domains is structurally directly coupled to asymmetric kinase formation by the transmembrane domains (Jura et al. 2009a). This also provides a model of how the information provided by ligand binding to extracellular domains of ErbB receptors is relayed into the activation of intracellular signaling pathways by series of structural arrangements throughout the length of the receptors.

Allosteric regulation of ErbB transactivation rationalizes ErbB3 signaling activity

Studies revealing the allosteric mechanism of ErbB receptor kinase domain activation have also helped to understand how ligand binding to kinase-inactive ErbB3 can

result in ErbB3 phosphorylation and signaling. The ErbB3 kinase domain lacks two important catalytic residues in the active site, a conserved glutamate in α C helix, and the aspartate serving as catalytic base (Guy et al. 1994). In the kinase dimer, however, the activator kinase does not have to be active (Zhang et al. 2006). The activator kinase C-lobe interface is conserved in ErbB3 (Zhang et al. 2006; Jura et al. 2009b) and ErbB3 can thus readily serve as the activator kinase for other members of the ErbB family in heterodimers (Jura et al. 2009b). In contrast, the receiver interface in the N-lobe of the ErbB3 kinase is not conserved (Zhang et al. 2006). This means that the ErbB3 kinase domain cannot serve as the receiver kinase, which is understandable considering the lack of ErbB3 kinase activity.

The asymmetric kinase dimer explains the phosphorylation of ErbB3 in a heterodimer, but it does not explain how the heterodimerization partner of ErbB3 is phosphorylated. A recent study demonstrated that NRG-1-induced ErbB3/ErbB2 heterodimers form tetrameric complexes, where the ErbB2 receptors phosphorylate each other in *trans* (Zhang et al. 2012). An RNA aptamer specifically binding to the putative tetramer interface in ErbB3 did not affect NRG-1-induced ErbB3 dimerization with ErbB2 or ErbB3 phosphorylation by ErbB2, but greatly reduced the phosphorylation and downstream signaling of ErbB2 (Zhang et al. 2012). These results suggest that higher-order ErbB complexes not only exist, but are crucial for normal ErbB signaling (Zhang et al. 2012; Sliwkowski 2012).

Although ErbB3 has been generally accepted as an inactive receptor, a kinase activity about 1000 times lower than that of the EGFR kinase domain has been reported for ErbB3 *in vitro* (Shi et al. 2010). The physiological relevance of this low activity, however, is still to be elucidated.

2.3.4. Signaling pathways

ErbB receptor activation upon ligand binding leads to the phosphorylation of tyrosine residues in the C-terminal tail of the receptor. These phosphorylated tyrosines serve as docking sites for signaling and adaptor proteins, which bind to the receptors *via* their SH2 (SRC-homology 2) or PTB (phosphotyrosine-binding) domains. The recruited signaling/adaptor proteins are typically subsequently phosphorylated either by the ErbB kinase or by their intrinsic kinase activity, leading to activation of intracellular signaling pathways (Schlessinger 2000). All ErbB receptors have a characteristic pattern of signaling/adaptor molecule binding sites (Schulze et al. 2005), resulting in qualitative as well as quantitative differences in the capability to promote intracellular signaling. ErbB receptor signaling is further complicated by the different homo- and heterodimeric complexes stimulated by ligands with different binding specificities to individual ErbB receptors, making ErbB signaling output highly context-dependent (Olayioye et al. 1998).



Figure 4: Cell signaling by ErbB receptors. The binding of signal transduction molecules to phosphorylated tyrosine residues in C-terminal tails of ErbB receptors initiates the activation of intracellular signaling cascades. The main pathways activated by the ErbB receptors are shown. ErbB4 is only ErbB receptor to undergo proteolytic processing on the cell membrane. The released soluble intracellular domain can translocate to nucleus where it can bind and regulate transcription factors. Blue color indicates molecules directly interacting with ErbB receptors. Gray color indicates other molecules in signaling pathways. Light green color indicates transcription factors.

Mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway

All ErbB receptors can activate the MAPK pathway by recruiting the GRB2 (growth factor receptor –bound protein 2) – SOS (son of sevenless) complex directly or *via* SHC (SHC transforming protein) (Figure 4) (Yarden and Sliwkowski 2001; Schulze et al. 2005). The recruitment of GRB2-SOS complex brings it close to the plasma membrane,

where the guanidine-nucleotide exchange factor SOS can activate RAS. The activation of RAS in turn triggers a cascade where subsequent phosphorylations of RAF, MEK and ERK result in translocation of ERK to the nucleus where it can activate a number of transcription factors. MAPK signaling can mediate various cellular processes but above all the MAPK signaling pathway is a potent mediator of cell proliferation and commonly targeted by oncogenic mutations in RAS, RAF or EGFR (Roberts and Der 2007).

Phosphoinositol-3 kinase pathway

Phosphoinositol-3 kinase (PI3K) pathway (Figure 4) is also an important mediator of ErbB receptor signaling. ErbB3 and ErbB4 harbor direct binding sites for the PI3K regulatory subunit p85, whereas EGFR and ErbB2 can activate PI3K indirectly, for example via activation of Ras (Schulze et al. 2005; Rodriguez-Viciana et al. 1994). PI3K catalyzes the conversion of PIP2 (phosphoinositol-2-phosphate) into PIP3 (phosphoinositol-3-phosphate), which recruits Akt kinase and its activator kinase PDK1 (3-phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1) to the cell membrane. Activation of Akt initiates several signaling cascades which can affect a variety of cellular responses including migration, metabolism, and survival (Zhao and Vogt 2008). Akt activation contributes to cell survival by for example directly phosphorylating pro-apoptotic proteins such as BAD (Bcl-2 associated death domain) and caspase-9 and by suppressing the expression of pro-apoptotic genes (Datta et al. 1999). PI3K pathway activation can also inhibit the transcription of cell cycle control proteins p21 and p27 and increase the levels of oncogenic transcription factors Myc and Jun (Zhao and Vogt 2008). Akt activation is negatively regulated by PTEN (phosphatase and tensin homologue), which dephosphorylates the Akt-recruiting PIP3. The PI3K pathway is frequently activated in cancer by mutations as well as loss of PTEN. The PI3K pathway is a major contributor to tumor growth and acquired cancer drug resistance (Zhao and Vogt 2008).

Phospholipase C gamma pathway

ErbB receptors are also able to activate another pathway involving phosphoinositol metabolism, mediated by phospholipase C gamma (PLC- γ) (Figure 4). PLC- γ is phosphorylated by EGFR, ErbB2 and ErbB4 (Margolis et al. 1989; Peles et al. 1991; Vecchi et al. 1996), leading to PLC- γ activation. Activated PLC- γ generates secondary messengers IP3 (inositol-triphosphate) and DAG (diacylglycerol) by catalyzing the hydrolysis of PIP2. IP3 stimulates the increase in intracellular calcium levels and thus can affect the activity of Ca²⁺/calmodulin –dependent enzymes. In addition, both calcium and DAG can activate PKC (protein kinase C) (Rhee 2001). PLC- γ activation and the subsequent actions of second messengers can regulate various transformation-promoting cellular functions such as migration, proliferation and survival (Carpenter and Ji 1999; Griner and Kazanietz 2007).

STAT pathway

STATs (signal transducer and activator of transcription), encoded by seven genes in humans, were initially discovered as intracellular signal transducers of cytokines (Schindler and Darnell 1995). Upon activation by cytokines or growth factors, the STATs are phosphorylated, which leads to STAT dimerization and translocation into the nucleus, where the STATs act as transcription factors regulating the expression of genes involved in cell growth, survival and differentiation (Figure 4) (Yu et al. 2009). ErbB receptors can activate different members of the STAT family, EGFR activating STAT1, STAT3, STAT5a, and STAT5b, and ErbB4 activating STAT5a, and STAT5b (Olayioye et al. 1999). ErbB2 and ErbB3 have not been shown to directly activate STATs (Olayioye et al. 1999).

In addition to canonical RTK signaling, ErbB4 can also signal *via* its intracellular domain, which is released from the membrane by a two-step proteolytic cleavage (Figure 4). The intracellular domain can translocate into the nucleus and regulate gene transcription. This unique feature of ErbB4 will be discussed later in further detail.

2.3.5. Negative regulation of ErbB signaling

Because ErbB receptor-mediated signaling regulates fundamental cellular processes, it is vital for cells to be able to regulate their ErbB signaling output. Protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTP) are important regulators of RTK activity that counteract the actions of protein tyrosine kinases by dephosphorylating phosphotyrosines (Schlessinger 2000). A number of protein phosphatases have been identified that regulate ErbB signaling, such as DEP1 (density-enhanced phosphatase-1) and protein tyrosine phosphatase-1B (Citri and Yarden 2006).

Receptor endocytosis is a major regulatory mechanism of EGFR. Activation of EGFR is followed by rapid ubiquitination and endocytosis to early endosomes. The internalized receptors can then be either recycled back to the plasma membrane or targeted for degradation in lysosomes (Sorkin and Goh 2009). With the exception of ErbB4 CYT-1 isoforms, other ErbB receptors than EGFR are considered endocytosis-impaired (Sundvall et al. 2008; Baulida et al. 1996), undergoing endocytosis with much slower kinetics than EGFR and/or exhibiting higher rates of recycling (Baulida et al. 1996; Sorkin and Goh 2009).

The activity of ErbB receptors can also be regulated by protein inhibitors such as MIG6 (mitogen-inducible gene-6) and LRIG1 (leucine-rich repeats and immunoglobulin-like domains-1), whose expression is typically induced upon EGFR activation (Citri and Yarden 2006). MIG6 directly binds to the EGFR kinase domain inhibiting the formation of kinase dimer and thus activation (Zhang et al. 2007). LRIG1 binds to all ErbB receptors and increases ubiquitin-mediated receptor downregulation and degradation (Laederich et al. 2004; Gur et al. 2004).

2.3.6. ErbB receptors in cancer

The early findings that human EGFR and ErbB2 are homologs of chicken and rodent oncogenes *v*-erbB (Downward et al. 1984) and *neu* (Schechter et al. 1984), respectively, already implicated a potential role for ErbB receptors in tumorigenesis. Since then, numerous studies analyzing ErbB biology in human tumors have established *ERBBs* as very potent proto-oncogenes whose functions are perturbed in various human epithelial and central nervous system malignancies (Arteaga and Engelman 2014). Overexpression with or without gene amplification and somatic mutations are the most common mechanisms of oncogenic ErbB receptor activation and these alterations can serve as predictive markers for ErbB-targeted cancer therapy in specific types of cancer (Arteaga and Engelman 2014; Slamon et al. 2001; Lynch et al. 2004).

EGFR and *ERBB2* are the most well-established oncogenes among ErbBs and these receptors have long been the focus of ErbB-related cancer research. ErbB3 and ErbB4 have gained less attention, and their contribution to tumorigenesis is not well known. In studies assessing the transforming potential of ErbB receptors, both ErbB3 and ErbB4 were shown to be able to transform NIH 3T3 cells when co-expressed with EGFR or ErbB2 and stimulated with ligand (Zhang et al. 1996; Cohen et al. 1996). ErbB3 overexpression is frequently observed in human malignancies including lung, breast, colorectal and ovarian cancers and melanoma, often together with expression of other members of the ErbB family (Gullick 1996; Aurisicchio et al. 2012). Indeed, being the most potent activator of the PI3K pathway among ErbB receptors, ErbB3 can be a major contributor to tumorigenesis as a co-receptor for other ErbBs (Arteaga and Engelman 2014).

ErbB4 is also expressed and mutated in cancer, as will be discussed in detail later.

Mutant ErbB receptors as cancer drug targets

The discovery that the tumorigenic viral *v*-erbB oncogene resembles truncated EGFR lacking the extracellular ligand binding domain (Downward et al. 1984) and the *neu* oncogene encodes the ErbB2 receptor with a single point mutation in the transmembrane domain (Bargmann et al. 1986) already demonstrated that mutated variants of ErbB receptors can promote tumor formation. Another early observation that the proliferation of A431 cancer cells, harboring amplified EGFR gene, is inhibited by anti-EGFR monoclonal antibody (Kawamoto et al. 1983) provided evidence that growth of cancer cells can be driven by aberrant ErbB activity and laid the foundation for the development of cancer drugs specifically targeting the ErbB receptors. Subsequent studies have shown that ErbB receptors are frequently activated by oncogenic point mutations, deletions, insertions and gene amplifications in human cancer.

Activating EGFR kinase domain mutations are detected in 8-10% of Caucasian lung cancer patients and in a higher percentage of patients of East Asian origin (Lynch et

al. 2004; Paez et al. 2004; Pao et al. 2004; Pao and Chmielecki 2010). The mutations typically target two hot spots in the kinase domain, the L858R point mutation and small overlapping insertions in exon 19 being the most common mutations (Pao and Chmielecki 2010). EGFR kinase domain mutations have been shown to sensitize lung cancer cells to EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI) erlotinib and gefitinib *in vitro*, and predict treatment response in patients (Lynch et al. 2004; Pao et al. 2004; Paez et al. 2004). After the first reports, a number of clinical trials have shown the efficacy of EGFR TKIs for lung cancer patients harboring EGFR kinase domain mutations (Pao and Chmielecki 2010). Several EGFR TKIs are now routinely used in the clinic and lung cancer patients are systematically screened for EGFR kinase domain mutations to select the patients suitable for EGFR TKI treatment.

EGFR mutations targeting the extracellular domain are very common in glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) and are almost exclusively accompanied by EGFR gene amplification (Sugawa et al. 1990; Frederick et al. 2000; Lee et al. 2006). The most frequent alteration $(\sim 40\% \text{ of patients})$ is the deletion of exons 2-7, resulting in a truncated receptor lacking 276 amino acids from the extracellular domain, thus resembling the protein product of the viral v-erbB gene (Sugawa et al. 1990). The mutant receptor, EGFRvIII, displays aberrant signaling and reduced rate of downregulation and is highly tumorigenic both in vitro and in vivo (Gan et al. 2013). Other types of EGFR deletion mutants are also frequent in GBM (Frederick et al. 2000). In addition, several recurrent point mutations targeting the extracellular domain of EGFR have been reported from GBM. Most frequently targeted amino acids are A289 (A289V/D/T) and G598 (G598V) (Lee et al. 2006). The point mutations enhance EGFR sensitivity to ligand stimulation and are transforming in Ba/F3 and NIH 3T3 cells (Lee 09). In spite of the apparent driver role of mutant EGFR in GBM, these tumors have proven highly resistant to treatment with EGFR TKIs in clinical trials (Rich et al. 2004; van den Bent et al. 2009; Franceschi et al. 2007).

Gene amplification is the most common genetic alteration of *ERBB2* and *ERBB2* amplification has been detected in breast, ovarian, gastric and bladder cancer (Lofts and Gullick 1992). Most research regarding the cancer biology of *ERBB2* amplification has been concentrated on breast cancer, where the frequency of gene amplification is high (15-25%) and the amplification-positive patients typically have poor prognosis (Slamon et al. 1987, 2001). Targeting ErbB2 in amplification-positive breast cancer cells with a ErbB2-targeted monoclonal antibody (mAb) trastuzumab was shown to be effective *in vitro* (Hudziak et al. 1989) and subsequently also in clinical trials (Slamon et al. 2001). This led to the FDA (United States food and drug administration) approval of trastuzumab for the treatment *ERBB2* amplification-positive breast cancer. Several other ErbB2-targeted drugs have since entered the clinic and trastuzumab has also been approved for the treatment of *ERBB2* amplification-positive advanced gastric cancer (Bang et al. 2010).

Besides gene amplification, other types of somatic oncogenic mutations in *ERBB2* have also been reported in human cancer, typically targeting the subdomain II of the extracellular domain and the kinase domain (Greulich et al. 2012; Bose et al. 2013). These additional oncogenic *ERBB2* mutations are transforming *in vitro* and tumorigenic *in vivo*, and cells expressing the oncogenic *ERBB2* mutants are sensitive to ErbB2 inhibition *in vitro* (Greulich et al. 2012; Bose et al. 2013). However, these types of somatic *ERBB2* mutations are rare (Greulich et al. 2012; Bose et al. 2013), and the clinical significance of these mutations is yet to be demonstrated.

Although somatic *ERBB3* mutations have been reported from various human cancers, the assessment of the functional consequences of these mutations is currently limited to a one study (Jaiswal et al. 2013). This study reported highest *ERBB3* mutation frequencies in gastric (12%) and colon cancers (11%) (Jaiswal et al. 2013). *ERBB3* mutations affected all functional subdomains of the receptor with putative mutation hot spots in the extracellular domain and the kinase domain. The *ERBB3* hot spot mutants were transforming *in vitro* and tumorigenic *in vivo* when co-expressed with ErbB2, but were not able to transform cells when expressed alone (Jaiswal et al. 2013). Interestingly, mAbs targeting ErbB3 or ErbB2 could block the leukemia-like disease caused in mice by implanting Ba/F3 cells expressing ErbB3 mutants together with wild-type ErbB2. This indicates that targeting of mutant ErbB3 should be tested for therapeutic potential also in a clinical setting (Jaiswal et al. 2013).

ERBB4 is also frequently mutated in cancer and the potential of mutant ErbB4 as a drug target will be discussed in detail later.

2.4. ErbB4

2.4.1. ErbB4 isoforms

Juxtamembrane isoforms and regulated intramembrane proteolysis

ErbB4 is the only ErbB receptor to undergo alternative splicing to yield different receptor isoforms. Alternative inclusion of either exon 16 or exon 15 results in JM-a or JM-b isoforms, respectively (Elenius et al. 1997a; Junttila et al. 2003). The exons 16 (23 amino acids) and 15 (13 amino acids) affect the ErbB4 amino acid sequence at the extracellular juxtamembrane segment with the consequence that the JM-a isoforms can be proteolytically cleaved from the cell membrane, whereas the JM-b isoforms cannot (Elenius et al. 1997a). The proteolytic process, regulated intramembrane proteolysis (RIP), involves a two-step cleavage of ErbB4. The first step is performed by ADAM17/ TACE (tumor necrosis factor- α converting enzyme) at the JM-a region and the second step by gamma-secretace at a cleavage site within the transmembrane domain (Figure 4) (Rio et al. 2000; Ni et al. 2001). The RIP of ErbB4 results in the release of a soluble intracellular fragment (ICD), which may translocate to the nucleus and regulate gene

transcription (Figure 4) (Ni et al. 2001) (Ni et al. 2001; Lee et al. 2002a; Komuro et al. 2003; Williams et al. 2004; Määttä et al. 2006; Sardi et al. 2006; Sundvall et al. 2010; Paatero et al. 2012). Thus, the JM-a isoforms harbor a unique signaling entity the JM-b isoforms lack, rendering the JM isoforms also functionally distinct (see later and Veikkolainen et al. 2011).

Cytoplasmic isoforms

The cytoplasmic (CYT) isoforms of ErbB4 rise from the inclusion (CYT-1) or exclusion (CYT-2) of exon 26 (16 amino acids) (Junttila et al. 2003). The CYT-1 –specific region, located at the C-terminal tail of ErbB4, harbors a unique binding site for PI3K and thus enables the ErbB4 CYT-1 isoform to directly activate the PI3K pathway (Elenius et al. 1999). The CYT-1 region also contains an additional PPXY motif, which serves as the binding site for the ubiquitin ligase Itch (itchy E3 ubiquitin protein ligase) (Sundvall et al. 2008). Through the actions of Itch, ErbB4 CYT-1 isoforms are ubiquitinated and efficiently endocytosed, whereas the CYT-2 isoforms, lacking the Itch binding site, are not (Sundvall et al. 2008). Thus, also the ErbB4 CYT isoforms differ in their potency to elicit downstream signaling.

Expression of ErbB4 isoforms

In addition to their functional differences, the ErbB4 isoforms are also differentially expressed in normal and malignant tissues. JM-a isoforms are the predominant JM isoforms in kidney, salivary gland and testis, whereas skeletal muscle and heart predominantly express the JM-b isoform (Junttila et al. 2005; Veikkolainen et al. 2011). Both CYT-1 isoforms are typically expressed in all tissues where ErbB4 is expressed, although not always at similar relative levels (Junttila et al. 2005; Veikkolainen et al. 2011). In both malignant and benign tumors, JM-a isoforms typically dominate over JM-b isoforms, whereas the CYT isoforms are usually both expressed at roughly similar levels (Junttila et al. 2005; Veikkolainen et al. 2011; Kurppa et al. 2014), with a few exceptions (see chapter 2.4.4.).

2.4.2. ErbB4 signaling

ErbB4 is able to mediate ligand-borne extracellular signals into cellular responses *via* two alternative, independent routes: *via* canonical RTK signaling from the cell membrane (see chapter 2.3.4.), or *via* RIP-mediated signaling.

Following the two-step proteolytic cleavage, the soluble ErbB4 ICD can translocate to the nucleus, where it associates with and regulates transcription factors including YAP (YES-associated protein), STAT5, ER (estrogen receptor), ETO2, TAB2-N-CoR, AP-2, and HIF-1 α (hypoxia-inducible factor 1 α) (Komuro et al. 2003; Williams et al. 2004; Zhu et al. 2006; Linggi and Carpenter 2006; Sardi et al. 2006; Sundvall et al. 2010; Paatero et al. 2012). ErbB4 ICD-mediated signaling has been shown to regulate complex

cellular processes *in vivo*, such as differentiation of astrocytes in developing brain and epithelial cells in developing mammary gland (Sardi et al. 2006; Muraoka-Cook et al. 2009). Moreover, the overexpression of ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2, but not ErbB4 JM-b CYT-2 has been shown to promote IL-3-independent growth of 32D cells and promote survival of NR6 fibroblasts in the absence of serum (Määttä et al. 2006; Sundvall et al. 2010). These finding indicate that ErbB4 ICD-mediated signaling can also be oncogenic.

The actions of ErbB4 ICD are negatively regulated by SUMOylation by PIAS3 (protein inhibitor of activated STAT3), which sequesters ErbB4 ICD in PML (promyelocytic leukemia) bodies in the nucleus and represses ErbB4 ICD-mediated transcriptional activity (Sundvall et al. 2012). Also, the binding of WWOX (WW domain containing oxidoreductase) to ErbB4 inhibits ErbB4 ICD signaling by both stabilizing the full-length, uncleaved ErbB4, and by preventing the nuclear translocation of ErbB4 ICD (Aqeilan et al. 2007).

2.4.3. ErbB4 in neurological disorders

NRG-ErbB4 signaling is indispensable for the development of the central nervous system (CNS) (Gassmann et al. 1995). Loss of function of NRG-1 or ErbB4 or disrupting NRG-1 signaling can disturb neuronal migration, the outgrowth of neurites, axon projection, axon myelination, and the formation of synapses (Mei and Xiong 2008). In addition to effects on the anatomical development of the CNS, ErbB4 also has a role in neurotransmission in the adult brain, as both glutamaterigic and GABAergic pathways are affected by NRG-1-ErbB4 signaling (Huang et al. 2000; Woo et al. 2007). Moreover, NRG-1 has neurotrophic and neuroprotective effects *in vitro* (Mei and Xiong 2008).

In accordance with the apparent role of ErbB4 in neuronal function, ErbB4 has been linked to various neuronal disorders. ErbB4 and NRG-1 protein levels are increased in patients with Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease, in which NRG-1-ErbB4 mediated signaling has been proposed to have neuroprotective effects (Chaudhury et al. 2003; Depboylu et al. 2012; Carlsson et al. 2011; Min et al. 2011). The strongest evidence comes from the involvement of ErbB4 in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia, where a number of genomic variants in *ERBB4* and *NRG-1* have been associated with the disease (Stefansson et al. 2002, 2003; Williams et al. 2003; Law et al. 2007; Norton et al. 2006; Nicodemus et al. 2006). Furthermore, *ERBB4-* or *NRG-1*-hypomorphic and conditional knock-out mice show symptoms associated with schizophrenia (Gerlai et al. 2000; Golub et al. 2004).

2.4.4. ErbB4 in cancer

ErbB4 expression in cancer

Studies analyzing ErbB4 expression in cancer have reported both under- and overexpression with varying associations to clinical characteristics and prognosis.

In breast cancer where ErbB4 has been most intensively studied, ErbB4 expression is typically associated with ER- and PR (progesterone receptor)-positivity, ErbB2-negativity, well-differentiated phenotype and favorable outcome (Bacus et al. 1996; Kew et al. 2000; Sassen et al. 2008; Koutras et al. 2008). On the other hand, ErbB4 overexpression has been associated with shorter relapse-free survival in early, node-negative tumors and with decreased survival in patients with node-positive tumors (Bièche et al. 2003; Lodge et al. 2003). In addition to breast cancer, ErbB4 expression has been associated with favorable prognosis in bladder cancer (Memon et al. 2004), but with poor prognosis in medulloblastoma, colorectal cancer, esophageal squamous cell carcinoma, and gastric cancer (Gilbertson et al. 1997; Baiocchi et al. 2009; Lee et al. 2002b; Xu et al. 2008; Shi et al. 2012).

Interestingly, ErbB4 expression has also been associated with resistance to chemotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and in osteo- as well as soft tissue sarcomas (Merimsky et al. 2001, 2002, 2003). In accordance with these observations, a recent study demonstrated that ErbB4-mediated signaling plays an important role in tumor recurrence after chemotherapy in various mouse models of NSCLC (Hegde et al. 2013).

While most expression studies have not taken into account the complex biology of ErbB4 with functionally distinct isoforms, few studies have addressed this issue. In medulloblastoma, increased CYT-1:CYT-2 ratio was associated with more aggressive disease (Ferretti et al. 2006). In serous ovarian cancer, CYT-1 isoform expression was shown to be an independent prognostic factor for poor survival (Paatero et al. 2013). The CYT-1 and CYT-2 isoforms were also shown to be expressed at different ratios in triple-negative breast cancer, but the observed favorable prognostic impact of *ERBB4* expression on overall survival was not affected by the isoform expression ratio (Machleidt et al. 2013).

ERBB4 mutations in cancer

Cancer-associated *ERBB4* mutations have been poorly characterized, both in terms of mutation frequency in different cancers as well as of functional consequences of *ERBB4* mutations. Studies using targeted sequencing of tumors have rarely included *ERBB4*, and as a consequence very few studies have reported *ERBB4* mutations in cancer (Soung et al. 2006). The major advances in genomic sequencing technology combined with the recent efforts to comprehensively characterize the mutational landscapes in all major human malignancies have, however, also unraveled the frequency of *ERBB4* mutations in various types of cancer (Figure 5). The cancer types with the highest somatic *ERBB4* mutation frequency include melanoma (11-19%), various subtypes of lung cancer (5-21%), gastric cancer (13%), colorectal cancer (8-11%) and esophageal cancer (10%), whereas the lowest frequencies are detected in glioblastoma (0.3%), low-grade glioma (0.3%), prostate cancer (0.4%), multiple myeloma (0.5%), and thyroid cancer (0.5%)



Mutation frequency (%)

24

Figure 5: Frequency of ERBB4 mutations in different cancer types. The figure indicates the frequency of nonsynonymous *ERBB4* mutations (horizontal axis) in different cancer types (vertical axis). The data represents 55 studies across 30 different cancer types that are available in the cBioportal database (www.cbioportal.org, reviewed 26.8.2014). Only studies reporting *ERBB4* mutations are shown. Studies on same cancer types are emphasized by brackets. Figure modified from cBioportal data output. TCGA, The Cancer Genome Atlas research network.

(Figure 5). However, as can be seen from figure 5, the *ERBB4* mutation frequencies reported by different studies analyzing the same tumor type seem to vary considerably. Of the tumor types where there is more than one independent study, melanoma, colorectal

cancer and lung adenocarcinoma have consistently indicated high prevalence of *ERBB4* mutations (Figure 5). A characteristic feature of *ERBB4* mutations across all studies is the lack of obvious mutation hot spots, *i.e.* mutations recurrently occurring at the same site. Possibly due to this feature, and also the rather inconsistent literature regarding the role of ErbB4 in cancer (see above), *ERBB4* mutations are not regarded as driver mutations in most of the published studies listed in figure 5.

In spite of high incidence of *ERBB4* mutations in some tumor types, the functional effects of these mutations remain poorly characterized as only one such study exists outside this thesis (Prickett et al. 2009). In the study by Prickett and others, reporting *ERBB4* mutations in 19% of clinical metastatic melanoma samples, the authors showed that some of the mutations are oncogenic and drive the proliferation of melanoma cells (Prickett et al. 2009). Interestingly, melanoma cells harboring endogenous *ERBB4* mutations were also shown to be more sensitive to the EGFR/ErbB2-targeting TKI lapatinib, suggesting that mutant *ERBB4* could be a potential drug target in metastatic melanoma (Prickett et al. 2009).

3. AIMS OF THE STUDY

- 1. To functionally characterize cancer-associated *ERBB4* mutations.
- 2. To assess the clinical significance of *ERBB4* promoter region polymorphisms and kinase domain mutations in breast cancer.
- 3. To study the significance of *ERBB4* polymorphisms in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis.

4. MATERIALS AND METHODS

A more detailed description of the materials and methods used in this thesis can be found in the original publications, referred to with their roman numerals.

4.1. Methods

| Method | Used in |
|---|-------------------------------|
| Bioinformatics | IV* |
| Cell Culture | I, II, IV |
| Cross-linking | II |
| Direct nucleotide sequencing | I, II, IV |
| Genotyping | III, IV |
| Immunohistochemistry | III |
| Immunoprecipitation and co-immunoprecipitation | I, II |
| In vitro kinase assay | Ι |
| Ligand stimulation | I, II, IV |
| Linkage analysis | IV |
| Molecular cloning | I, II, IV |
| Molecular modeling of ErbB4 | I, II |
| MTT cell viability/proliferation assay | I, II |
| Real-time RT-PCR | II |
| Retroviral infection to generate stable gene expression | I, II |
| RNA extraction and synthesis of cDNA | II |
| Site-directed mutagenesis | I, II, IV |
| Statistical analysis | I, II, <i>III</i> , <i>IV</i> |
| Structural analysis | I, II |
| Three-dimensional cultures | Ι |
| Transfection | I, II, IV |
| Western blotting | I, II, IV |
| Whole genome sequencing | IV |

*Methods used in the original publications, but not by the author of this thesis are indicated in italics.

Used in **Backbone type** pcDNA neo(-) pcDNA3.1.Neo(-) mammalian expression I pcDNAA2 pcDNA3.1.Neo(-) ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2 mammalian expression I pcDNA A2 V721I pcDNA3.1.Neo(-) ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2 mammalian expression Ι pcDNA A2 A773S pcDNA3.1.Neo(-) ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2 mammalian expression I pcDNA A2 R782Q pcDNA3.1.Neo(-) ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2 mammalian expression Ι Ι pcDNA A2 G802dup pcDNA3.1.Neo(-) ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2 mammalian expression pcDNA A2 E810K pcDNA3.1.Neo(-) ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2 mammalian expression Ι pcDNA A2 P854Q pcDNA3.1.Neo(-) ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2 mammalian expression Ι pcDNA A2 D861Y pcDNA3.1.Neo(-) ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2 mammalian expression Ι pcDNA A2 E872K pcDNA3.1.Neo(-) ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2 mammalian expression Ι pcDNA A2 T926M pcDNA3.1.Neo(-) ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2 mammalian expression Ι pcDNA A2 I1033M pcDNA3.1.Neo(-) ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2 mammalian expression Ι pBabe pBABE-puro retroviral I. II. IV pBABE A2 pBABE-puro ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2 retroviral I I pBABE A2 G802dup pBABE-puro ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2 retroviral pBABE A2 D861Y pBABE-puro ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2 retroviral I pcDNA ErbB2 pcDNA3.1.Neo(-) ErbB2 mammalian expression I pcDNA hyg(+) pcDNA3.1.Hyg(+) mammalian expression Π pcDNA A2HA II pcDNA3.1.Hyg(+) ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA mammalian expression pcDNA3.1.Hyg(+) II pcDNA A2HA K751R ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA mammalian expression II pcDNAA2HA K751R, D931Y pcDNA3.1.Hyg(+) ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA mammalian expression pcDNA A2HA K751R, K935I pcDNA3.1.Hyg(+) ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA mammalian expression Π ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA pcDNA A2HA V954R pcDNA3.1.Hyg(+) mammalian expression Π pBABE A2HA pBABE-puro ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA retroviral II. IV pBABE A2HA N181S pBABE-puro ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA retroviral Π pBABE A2HA T244R pBABE-puro ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA retroviral Π pBABE A2HA Y285C pBABE-puro ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA retroviral Π pBABE A2HA R306S pBABE-puro ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA retroviral Π ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA retroviral Π pBABE A2HA V348L pBABE-puro pBABE A2HA D595V ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA retroviral Π pBABE-puro Π pBABE A2HA H618P pBABE-puro ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA retroviral pBABE A2HA D931Y pBABE-puro ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA retroviral Π Π pBABE A2HA K935I pBABE-puro ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA retroviral pBABE A2HA K592I pBABE-puro ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA retroviral Π pBABE-puro ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA retroviral IV pBABE A2HA R114Q pBABE A2HA A158E pBABE-puro ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA retroviral IV ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA retroviral IV pBABE A2HA H374Q pBABE-puro pBABE A2HA R927Q pBABE-puro ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA retroviral IV ErbB4 JM-a CYT-2-HA retroviral pBABE A2HA R1275W pBABE-puro IV

4.2. Plasmids

4.3. Cell lines

| Cell line | Туре | Species | Used in |
|------------|-----------------------------|----------------------|-----------|
| COS-7 | Fibroblast-like kidney cell | African green monkey | I, II, IV |
| MCF7 | Breast cancer cell | Human | Ι |
| MDA-MB-468 | Breast cancer cell | Human | Ι |
| NIH 3T3 | Fibroblast | Mouse | II |

4.4. Reagents

| Reagent | Туре | Company | Used in |
|---|----------------------|-------------|-----------|
| AZ10398863 | ErbB2 TKI | AstraZeneca | Ι |
| bis(sulfosuccinimidyl)suberate (BS ₃) | Cross-linker | Pierce | II |
| gefitinib | ErbB TKI | AstraZeneca | Ι |
| neuregulin-1 | ErbB4 ligand | R&D systems | I, II, IV |
| Fugene6 | Transfection reagent | Roche | I, II, IV |

4.5. Antibodies

| Antigen | Clone/cat. # | Company | Туре | Application | Used in |
|------------------|--------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------|-----------|
| Actin | sc-1616 | Santa Cruz | Rabbit polyclonal | WB | I, II, IV |
| Akt | sc-1618 | Santa Cruz | Rabbit polyclonal | WB | I, II |
| ErbB2 | sc-284 | Santa Cruz | Rabbit polyclonal | WB, IP | Ι |
| ErbB2 | MA5-14057 | Thermo Scientific | Mouse monoclonal | WB, IP | II |
| ErbB4 | sc-283 | Santa Cruz | Rabbit polyclonal | WB, IP | Ι |
| ErbB4 | E200 | Abcam | Rabbit monoclonal | WB, IP | II, IV |
| ErbB4 | HFR-1 | Abcam | Mouse monoclonal | IHC | III |
| Erk | 9102 | Cell Signaling | Rabbit polyclonal | WB | I, II |
| НА | 3F10 | Roche | Rat monoclonal | WB | II |
| PCNA | sc-56 | Santa Cruz | Mouse monoclonal | WB | II |
| PDGFR-alpha | 07-276 | Millipore | Mouse polyclonal | WB | II |
| phospho-Akt | 9271 | Cell Signaling | Rabbit polyclonal | WB | I, II |
| phospho-ErbB4 | 4757 | Cell Signaling | Rabbit polyclonal | WB | I, II, IV |
| phospho-Erk | 9101 | Cell Signaling | Rabbit polyclonal | WB | I, II |
| phospho-tyrosine | 4G10 | produced in house | Mouse monoclonal | WB | I, II |
| STAT5 | sc-835 | Santa Cruz | Rabbit polyclonal | WB | Ι |

5. **RESULTS**

5.1. Cancer-associated *ERBB4* mutations can induce a qualitative shift in ErbB4 signaling (I)

The first study screening *ERBB4* mutations in cancer was published by Soung and others in 2006 (Soung et al. 2006). The mutation screen was restricted to *ERBB4* kinase domain. A total of twelve somatic mutations were detected in 180 gastric carcinoma, 94 breast ductal carcinoma, 104 colorectal carcinoma and 217 NSCLC samples, and nine of the observerd mutations changed an amino acid in ErbB4 (Soung et al. 2006). Another study identified an *ERBB4* mutation affecting the C-terminus of ErbB4 in one out of 146 colorectal cancer samples (Parsons et al. 2005). The effects of these mutations (I; Fig. 1) were analyzed in transiently transfected MCF-7 and COS-7 cells. While none of the mutations increased the activity of ErbB4, two mutants, G802dup and D861Y, demonstrated highly reduced both basal and NRG-1-stimulated phosphorylation (I; Fig. 2A). Subsequent *in vitro* kinase assay analysis showed that the two mutants completely lacked kinase activity (I; Fig. 2B).

Interestingly, despite of impaired kinase activity, the two ErbB4 mutants were found as effective as the wild-type receptor in activating ErbB2 in response to NRG-1 stimulation, as well as in activating ErbB2-mediated MAPK and PI3K signaling (I; Fig. 4, 7C). In contrast, the kinase-dead ErbB4 mutants were not able to activate STAT5, whose phosphorylation upon NRG-1 stimulation was ErbB4 kinase-dependent (I; Fig. 6, 7B). Moreover, overexpression of ErbB2 together with the kinase-dead ErbB4 mutants completely rescued the NRG-1-stimulated ErbB4 phosphorylation of the mutants (I; Fig. 5). These results indicated that the G802dup and D861Y mutations promoted an "ErbB3-like" phenotype in ErbB4 where signaling potency was strictly dependent on heterodimerization with kinase-competent ErbB receptor, and promoted a qualitative shift in ErbB4 signaling (I; Fig. 9).

STAT5 activation has previously been shown to mediate ErbB4-induced differentiation of mammary carcinoma cells (Muraoka-cook et al. 2006). Therefore, a three-dimensional MDA-MB-468 breast cancer cell differentiation model was used to analyze the functional effects of the G802dup and D861Y mutants. While NRG-1 stimulation increased the amount of differentiated acinar structures in cells stably transfected with wild-type ErbB4, in cells expressing the G802dup and D861Y mutants the NRG-1 stimulation decreased the number of acini, as the cells mostly grew as disorganized colonies (I; Fig. 8). These results demostrated that the mutants had not only lost their ability to promote differentiation but had gained an ability to actively suppress differentiation.

Taken together, these results suggest that mutations leading to loss of kinase activity in ErbB4 may lead to a qualitative shift in the balance between tumorigenic and suppressive pathways, favoring cancer cell proliferation and survival over differentiation.

5.2. Mutations in various functional subdomains of ErbB4 can lead to receptor activation (II)

A study analyzing the exons of 623 potential cancer genes in 188 clinical lung adenocarcinoma samples identified *ERBB4* as a highly mutated gene in lung adenocarcinoma (Ding et al. 2008). The nine identified mutations (4.8% of all samples) affected all functional subdomains of the ErbB4 receptor, with seven mutations in the extracellular domain and two mutations in the kinase domain (II; Fig. 1). The *ERBB4* mutations were mutually exclusive with activating *EGFR* kinase mutations (Ding et al. 2008) and neither of the *ERBB4* kinase domain mutations corresponded to mutations already analyzed in (I). In contrast to the previously analyzed kinase domain mutations, four mutations (Y285C, D595V, D931Y and K935I) demonstrated increased basal and NRG-1-induced phosphorylation when expressed in COS-7 cells, whereas the other five did not affect ErbB4 activation (II; Fig. 2).

Interestingly, although the four activating ErbB4 mutations targeted three different functional subdomains of ErbB4 (II; Fig. 1), all mutations were structurally mapped in the dimerization interfaces in ErbB4 dimers (II; Fig. 3D, E, 4E). This suggested that the observed increase in activation may result from enhanced interaction of receptor monomers in ErbB4 homo- or heterodimers. Indeed, Y285C and D595V mutations demonstrated markedly increased ligand-induced (homo)dimerization in cross-linking experiments (II; Fig. 3A). In addition, as observed by co-immunoprecipitation, the two mutations also demonstrated increased heterodimerization with ErbB2 in response to ligand stimulation (II; Fig. 3B).

Because the D931Y and K935I mutations are located in the activator kinase in the asymmetric kinase dimer interface (see chapter 2.3.3.), the ability of the mutants to serve as activator kinases was analyzed (II; Fig 4A, B). While K935I mutation enhanced the activation of ErbB4 homodimers in *trans*, the activation was decreased by D931Y mutation (II; Fig. 4C). However, when NRG-1-stimulated activation of ErbB2 was assessed, both mutants were more potent than wild-type ErbB4 in activating ErbB2, with no difference between the mutants in transactivating capability (II; Fig. 4D). This suggests that the ErbB4 D931Y mutation induced a qualitative shift in the activity of ErbB4 dimers by increasing the activity of ErbB4-ErbB2 heterodimers as compared to wild-type ErbB4, while decreasing the activity of ErbB4 homodimers. This effect resembles the selective loss-of-function phenotype promoted by the kinase-dead ErbB4 mutants (see previous chapter). The ErbB4 K935I mutation, on the other hand, was a

more potent activator of both ErbB2 heterodimers and ErbB4 homodimers than wild-type ErbB4.

Taken together, these results demonstrate that mutations in various functional subdomains of ErbB4 can lead to activation of the receptor, possibly providing some explanation for the dispersed mutation pattern observed for *ERBB4* in cancer.

5.3. Activating ErbB4 mutations promote survival in NIH 3T3 cells and increase RIP-mediated ErbB4 signaling (II)

The functional consequences of the activating *ERBB4* mutations were analyzed in NIH 3T3 cells stably transfected with wild-type *ERBB4* or *ERBB4* mutants Y285C, D595V, or K935I. While wild-type or mutant *ERBB4* expression did not have an effect on the proliferation of NIH 3T3 cells in full (10%) serum (data not shown), the cells expressing the *ERBB4* mutants were significantly more resistant to serum starvation than cells expressing wild-type *ERBB4* or vector control cells (II; Fig. 5A). This suggested that the activating *ERBB4* mutations are oncogenic.

The effects of serum starvation on ErbB4 phosphorylation and intracellular signaling pathway activation was analyzed by Western blotting. While all three ErbB4 mutants demonstrated more prominent ErbB4 phosphorylation both in full serum and upon serum starvation than the wild-type ErbB4, the effects on MAPK and Akt pathway activation were negligible (II, Fig. 5B). However, the mutants demonstrated increased ErbB4 cleavage basally as well as upon serum starvation (II; Fig. 5B). The signaling activity of the soluble ErbB4 ICD was addressed by analyzing the expression of PDGFRA (plateletderived growth factor receptor-alpha), as ErbB4 ICD has previously been reported to associate with the PDGFRA promoter and stimulate PDGFRA transcripton in response to serum starvation (Sundvall et al. 2010). PDGFRA mRNA and protein levels were more robustly increased in response to serum starvation in NIH 3T3 cells expressing the *ERBB4* mutants than in vector control cells or cells expressing wild-type *ERBB4* (II; Fig. 5C, D), indicating that the soluble ErbB4 ICD produced from the ErbB4 mutants was actively translocated to the nucleus where the ErbB4 ICD regulated gene expression. These results suggest that the activating ErbB4 mutants predominantly activated RIPmediated ErbB4 signaling as opposed to canonical RTK signaling in response to serum starvation.

5.4. Oncogenic *ERBB4* kinase domain mutations are rare but present in breast cancer (III)

To investigate the frequency and clinical significance of the *ERBB4* kinase domain mutations reported by Soung et al. (Soung et al. 2006) in breast cancer, the mutations

were genotyped from the 1010 patients who participated in the adjuvant phase III FinHer trial (see above and Joensuu et al. 2006). The frequency of the *ERBB4* mutations was found to be low as only two mutations, G802dup and E872K, were observed (0.2% of all genotyped patients). However, both mutations have been shown to functional and promote cancer cell/tumor growth *in vitro* (see above and Prickett et al. 2009), indicating the rare presence of potentially oncogenic *ERBB4* mutations in breast cancer.

5.5. *ERBB4* polymorphism has prognostic significance in breast cancer (III)

While *ERBB4* polymorphisms have previously been associated with risk of breast cancer (Rokavec et al. 2007; Kim et al. 2012; Murabito et al. 2007), no studies have assessed the possible predictive or prognostic value of *ERBB4* gene variants. In order to investigate the prognostic significance of *ERBB4* polymorphisms in breast cancer, 1010 patients with high-risk early breast cancer who participated in the adjuvant phase III FinHer trial (Joensuu et al. 2006) were genotyped for two *ERBB4* promoter region polymorphisms (SNPs), -782G>T (rs62626348) and -815A>T (rs62626347) (Rokavec et al. 2007), and the association of these *ERBB4* polymorphisms with distant disease-free survival (DDFS) of the patients was analyzed.

The frequencies of the *ERBB4* variants in the patient cohort were 2.5% (23 out of 936 patients) and 1.3% (12 out of 932 patients) for -782G>T and -815A>T, respectively. When the *ERBB4* promoter region SNP status was compared with clinicopathological characteristics, the -782G>T variant was associated with well-differentiated cancer (P = 0.018) (III, Table 1). No other associations with clinicopathological features were observed for either variant. The -815A>T variant was significantly associated with poor prognosis (HR = 2.86 [95% CI 1.15-6.67], P = 0.017, III; Fig. 1B), whereas -782G>T variant did not show association with survival (III, Fig. 1A).

The -782G>T variant has been shown to decrease, and -815A>T to increase *ERBB4* promoter activity in an *in vitro* reporter assay (Rokavec 07). Therefore, paraffinembedded tumor sections from primary tumors of all 1010 patients were analyzed for ErbB4 expression by immunohistochemistry using HFR-1 monoclonal antibody recognizing the C-terminus of ErbB4. However, no significant associations were found between *ERBB4* SNP status and ErbB4 staining intensity (III, Table 1). ErbB4 protein expression also did not associate with DDFS of the patients, but with ER-positivity. This is consistent with earlier reports associating ErbB4 protein expression with markers of favorable prognosis (Bacus 96, Kew, 00, Sassen 08, Koutras).

These results suggest that the heterozygous genotype *ERBB4* -815A/T could be a prognostic marker in high-risk early breast cancer. This is also the first indication of prognostic significance for a genetic variant of *ERBB4* in cancer.

5.6. Causative germ-line *ERBB4* mutations in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis inhibit *ERBB4* activity (IV)

A team of researchers led by professor Shoji Tsuji from the University of Tokyo indentified two causative germ-line *ERBB4* mutations in ALS patients, R927Q from Japanese and Caucasian patients with familial ALS, and a *de novo* R1275W mutation from a Japanese patient with sporadic ALS (IV; Fig. 1). We collaborated with the Japanese team to functionally characterize the ALS-associated *ERBB4* mutations. The mutations were cloned into an expression vector and transiently transfected into COS-7 cells, where the phosphorylation of wild-type and mutant ErbB4 in response to NRG-1 stimulation was analyzed by Western blotting. Intriguingly, both R927Q and R1275W mutations reduced ErbB4 phosphorylation upon NRG-1 stimulation (IV, Fig. 2). Three other *ERBB4* mutations, did not alter ErbB4 phosphorylation upon NRG-1 stimulation (IV, Fig. 2). This suggests that causative *ERBB4* mutations in ALS reduce NRG-1-ErbB4 signaling.

6. **DISCUSSION**

6.1. The pattern of cancer-associated *ERBB4* mutations may not be random after all

Cancer-associated *ERBB4* mutations are characterized by the lack of mutational hot spots. Indeed, even when all *ERBB4* mutations in 12386 samples from 55 studies across 30 different cancer types available at cBioPortal for cancer genomics (www.cbioportal.org) are overlaid, no obvious hot spots can be detected (Figure 6). R711 is the most frequently targeted amino acid in ErbB4 with five individual samples harboring a mutation at this position. Several amino acids are mutated in two or three different samples, but these positions show no particular pattern. In contrast, in EGFR, ErbB2 and ErbB3, distinct hot spots can be readily recognized, with 9-34 samples harboring mutations targeting the same amino acid (Figure 6).

This somewhat peculiar pattern of cancer-associated mutations has caused ErbB4 to be generally neglected as a potential driver oncogene and drug target in cancer. However, the results of this study demonstrated that mutations targeting various sites in the extracellular and kinase domains of ErbB4 can promote oncogenic changes in the functions of ErbB4. This suggests that the apparently random pattern of mutations in *ERBB4* may not be random after all.

An image of randomness can potentially arise from the typical way of illustrating mutations in proteins as schematic figures similar to those in figure 6. This type of illustration does not take into account the complex three-dimensional structure of ErbB receptors. The present study serves as a good example. The activating ErbB4 mutations characterized in (II), while random-looking in a schematic figure (II; Fig. 2), were all located in critical sites in dimerization interfaces in the three-dimensional structures of the receptor (II; Fig. 3D, E, 4E).

Scattered and concentrated mutation patterns have been classically associated with tumor suppressor genes and oncogenes, respectively, following a rationale that a protein function can be broken by several mechanisms but activated only by few. The ErbB receptors however, are subjected to several layers of structural negative regulation both in the extracellular and intracellular domain (see chapter 2.3.3. and Lemmon et al. 2014). Thus, using the same rationale as above, these regulatory mechanisms could be compromized by mutations in several different sites. Also, the dimerization-mediated activation of ErbB receptors involves multiple interactions between the receptor monomers throughout the length of the receptors (see chapter 2.3.3.). Mutations in any of these interaction sites could potentially modulate the activity of the receptor dimer, quantitatively or qualitatively.



Figure 6: The distribution of cancer-associated mutations in ErbB receptors. The figure shows the overlay of all nonsynonymous mutations in individual ErbB receptors from 12386 clinical cancer samples or cell lines. The data represents 55 studies across 30 different cancer types that are incorporated in the cBioportal database (www.cbioportal.org, reviewed 3.9.2014). Mutations are indicated as pins. The height of the pin indicates the number of mutations at the particular site. Colors indicate mutation type: green - missense, red - truncating, black - inframe deletion or insertion, purple - multiple types of mutations at the same site. Most recurrent mutations are labeled. Figure modified from cBioportal data output (www.cbioportal.org).

Consistently, activating ErbB4 Y285C mutation was shown in this thesis to disrupt a subdomain I-II interaction that normally stabilizes the dimerizationinhibiting conformation of subdomain II. Also, the D595V mutation led to increased dimerization most likely due to more tight interaction of subdomains IV in ErbB4 dimers. Moreover, the kinase domain mutations G802dup, D861Y, D931Y and K935I affected the activation of ErbB4 homo- and heterodimers both quantitatively and qualitatively. All these mutants were shown to promote oncogenic changes in ErbB4 functions (I, II). Thus, the complex regulatory and activation mechanisms of ErbB receptors may well rationalize the scattered pattern of mutations in *ERBB4* as a source of oncogenic mutations.

6.2. Role of ErbB4 in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis

Very few studies have addressed the role of NRG-1-ErbB4 signaling in ALS. It is known that ErbB4 is expressed in motor neurons (Ricart et al. 2006; Pearson and Carroll 2004) and ErbB4 is involved in the development of the central nervous system and in the maintenance of neuronal functions in adults (Mei and Xiong 2008). NRG-1 has been shown to have neurotrophic effects in motor neurons in vitro (Ricart et al. 2006), and mice lacking the cysteine rich domain-containing NRG-1 isoforms demonstrate severe loss of motor neurons and die perinatally due to respiratory failure (Wolpowitz et al. 2000). In ALS patients and transgenic SOD1 ALS mouse model, the level of membranebound type III NRG-1 is decreased in parallel with neuronal loss, but in contrast the level of secreted form of NRG-1 is increased at late stage of the disease (Song et al. 2012). While the authors proposed that the downregulation of type III NRG-1 reflected the motor neuron loss, the pathological implications of increased expression of soluble NRG-1 were not clear (Song et al. 2012). It was proposed that increased NRG-1 expression could contribute to ALS pathogenesis via activated glial cells (Song et al. 2012), but considering the neurotrophic effects of NRG-1 on motor neurons in vitro (Ricart et al. 2006) and in vivo (Wolpowitz et al. 2000), it could be argued that NRG-1 levels could be also increased in ALS as an attempt to support the survival of degenerating motor neurons expressing ErbB4.

The neurotrophic role of NRG-1 also suggests that the disruption of NRG-1-ErbB4 signaling by germ-line *ERBB4* mutations (IV) could contribute to the pathogenesis of ALS by compromizing the survival of motor neurons, subsequently leading to neuronal degeneration, which is the hallmark of ALS (Kiernan et al. 2011). However, additional studies are needed in order to elucidate the detailed mechanisms by which aberrant NRG-1-ErbB4 signaling is involved in the pathogenesis of ALS.

6.3. Mutated ErbB4 as a potential drug target

ERBB4 is frequently mutated in cancer (Figure 5) and has been identified as one of 127 significantly mutated genes that putatively represent driver genes in 12 major human cancer types (Kandath et al. 2013). *ERBB4* has also been found to be significantly mutated in both adenocarcinoma as well as squamous cell carcinoma of the lung (Ding et al. 2008; Kan et al. 2010). These results, although solely based on statistical analyses, implicate mutated *ERBB4* as an important contributor to tumorigenesis and thus a potential drug target.

The results of this study support a hypothesis that cancer-associated *ERBB4* mutations are oncogenic (I, II). Moreover, *ERBB4* mutations have previously been shown to sensitize metastatic melanoma cells to the ErbB TKI lapatinib (Prickett et al. 2009), suggesting that *ERBB4* mutations could be used as predictive markers for targeted therapy. Consistently, this study also demonstrated that an *ERBB4* polymorphism is associated with poor distant disease-free survival in breast cancer (III). This serves the hypothesis that 1% of breast cancer patients that harbor this *ERBB4* variant (III; Table 1; Rokavec et al. 2007) have intrinsically poor prognosis and could potentially benefit from ErbB4-targeted therapy in the adjuvant setting.

Therapeutic options to target ErbB4 are already available. The FDA-approved pan-ErbB TKI afatinib, specifically designed to inhibit ErbB4 in addition to EGFR and ErbB2, could be used clinically to target ErbB4. In addition, pan-ErbB TKIs canertinib and neratinib are currently in phase II clinical trials (www.clinicaltrials.gov). Moreover, clinically used EGFR- and ErbB2 –targeted TKIs erlotinib, gefitinib, and lapatinib could be used as anti-ErbB4 drugs as they also inhibit ErbB4 activity (Solca et al. 2012), albeit with higher concentrations.

However, the scattered pattern of cancer-associated *ERBB4* mutations gives no clear consensus on which mutations are oncogenic and which represent passenger mutations. As only gain-of-function oncogenic mutations would serve as targets for therapeutic ErbB4 antagonists, the lack of hot spot mutations as guides hinders the selection of cell lines or patients in which the benefit of targeting ErbB4 could be evaluated. Future studies concentrating on separating oncogenic *ERBB4* mutations from passenger mutations are thus warranted.

Mutated ErbB4 is emerging as a novel drug target also in ALS. The finding that germline mutations reducing ErbB4 activity predispose to ALS (IV) could have therapeutic implications. Supporting ErbB4 signaling by ErbB4 agonists such as recombinant NRG-1 could potentially have beneficial effects in patients. This approach has been shown in clinical trials to be successful in treating chronic heart failure (Gao et al. 2010; Jabbour et al. 2011). Also, several polymorphisms in *NRG-1* and *ERBB4* demonstrate a causative link to schizophrenia (Mei and Xiong 2008), suggesting that targeted therapeutics modulating ErbB4 activity could be beneficial also in this disease. However, as the mechanistic details of how disrupted NRG-1-ErbB4 signaling contributes to the pathogenesis of ALS are still largely unknown, further studies are needed to rationalize possible ErbB4-targeted treatment strategies in this disease.

7. CONCLUSIONS

ErbB receptors represent important drug targets. *EGFR* and *ERBB2* are wellcharacterized human proto-oncogenes and several drugs targeting EGFR and ErbB2 receptors are already in use in the clinic. ErbB4 has gained less attention as a potential drug target, although somatic *ERBB4* mutations have been identified in various highincidence cancers and germ-line *ERBB4* mutations have been linked to neuronal disorders and cancer. As a consequence, the functional effects of *ERBB4* mutations are largely unknown. This thesis work aimed to elucidate the functional consequences and assess the clinical significance of somatic and germ-line *ERBB4* mutations in the context of cancer and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis.

The following conclusions can be made based on the results of this study:

- 1) Cancer-associated *ERBB4* mutations can be oncogenic *in vitro*, and oncogenic changes in ErbB4 functions can be promoted by mutations at various sites in the ErbB4 receptor. This is most likely due to complex regulatory and activation mechanisms of ErbB4 and can possibly explain the scattered pattern of mutations that is characteristic for *ERBB4*.
- 2) Approximately 1% of breast cancer patients harbor a specific polymorphism in *ERBB4* that can intrinsically be associated with poor prognosis.
- 3) Causative germ-line *ERBB4* mutations occur in ALS and reduce ErbB4 activity.

Together, the results of this study support a hypothesis that therapeutic modulation of ErbB4 activity could be beneficial both in cancer and ALS patients harboring *ERBB4* mutations. However, in the context of cancer, the lack of mutational hot spots in *ERBB4*, although not indicating the lack of oncogenic mutations, hinders the identification of gain-of-function *ERBB4* mutations that would serve as targets for therapeutic ErbB4 antagonists. The main challenge for future studies is to be able to separate oncogenic ErbB4 mutations from passenger mutations. Achieving this would enable a comprehensive evaluation of potential benefit of targeting mutated ErbB4 in cancer.

8. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out at the Department of Medical Biochemistry and Genetics and the MediCity Research Laboratory, University of Turku. I would like to thank professors Klaus Elenius, Jukka Finne, and Sirpa Jalkanen for providing great facilities and inspiring scientific research environment.

I am very grateful for my supervisor professor Klaus Elenius, under whose guidance I have realized my passion for science. Thank you.

The members of my thesis committee, professors Olli Carpén and Jyrki Heino, thank you for the support, insightful comments and advices you provided during the years.

I would like to thank Turku doctoral programme of Biomedical Sciences and Turku doctoral proramme of Molecular Medicine for educational and financial support, but most importantly for the superb social happenings with fellow PhD students.

Professor Robert Winqvist and Docent Kaisa Lehti are acknowledged for reviewing the thesis manuscript and for their valuable comments.

I would also like to thank all my co-authors Hiltrud Brauch, Konstantin Denessiouk, Maija Hollmén, Heikki Joensuu, Mark S. Johnson, Pirkko-Liisa Kellokumpu-Lehtinen, Susanna Repo, Matjáz Rokavec, Maria Sundvall, Yuji Takahashi, Shoji Tsuji, and Denis Tvorogov for fruitful collaboration.

The present and former Elenius lab members Deepankar Chakroborty, Juho Heliste, Maria Helkkula, Maija Hollmén, Erika Iivanainen, Anne Jokilammi, Anna Khudayarov, Anna Knittle, Maarit Kortesoja, Johannes Merilahti, Elli Narvi, Janne Nordberg, Veera Ojala, Ilkka Paatero, Arto Pulliainen, Minna Santanen, Mika Savisalo, Maria Sundvall, Maria Tuominen, Denis Tvorogov, Katri Vaparanta, and Ville Veikkolainen as well as the members of the Heino group all deserve a special thank you for creating an awesome working environment. The relaxed and friendly atmosphere has inspired me and helped me get through some of the more bleak periods in the life of a researcher.

I am grateful for the excellent technical assistance by Ioan Iagar, Jukka Karhu, Merja Lakkisto, Pirjo Rantala, Minna Santanen, Raili Salonen, Mika Savisalo, and Maria Tuominen and for secretarial help by Rakel Mattsson, Pia Tahvanainen, Hanna Tuominen, and Elina Wiik.

This study has been financially supported by grants from Finnish Cancer Organizations, Finnish Cultural Foundation, Ida Montin Foundation, Jenny and Antti Wihuri Foundation, the Faculty of Medicine and Turku University Foundation. These are all acknowledged.

A special thanks goes to my parents for their invaluable support throughout the years. My father's enthusiasm for science and learning new things has had a big impact on me and I probably would not be writing this thesis without his influence.

Päivi, Elsa and Venla, my family. Thank you for your unconditional love and support despite of the long days in the lab and the absent-mindedness that seem to come with this profession. I love you.

Turku, November 2014

KA

Kari Kurppa

9. **REFERENCES**

- Agrawal N, Frederick MJ, Pickering CR, Bettegowda C, Chang K, Li RJ, Fakhry C, Xie T-X, Zhang J, Wang J, et al. 2011. Exome sequencing of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma reveals inactivating mutations in NOTCH1. *Science* **333**: 1154–7.
- Ahn S, Jang S, Shim J, Kim D, Hong S-M, Sung C, Baek D, Haq F, Ansari A, Lee S, et al. 2014. A Genomic Portrait of Resectable Hepatocellular Carcinomas: Implications of RB1 and FGF19 Aberrations for Patient Stratification. *Hepatology* epub ahead of print.
- Alvarado D, Klein DE, Lemmon MA. 2010. Structural basis for negative cooperativity in growth factor binding to an EGF receptor. *Cell* 142: 568–79.
- Andersen PM, Al-Chalabi A. 2011. Clinical genetics of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: what do we really know? *Nat Rev Neurol* 7: 603–15.
- Aqeilan R, Donati V, Gaudio E, Nicoloso MS, Sundall M, Korhonen A, Lundin J, Isola J, Sudol M, Joensuu H, et al. 2007. Association of Wwox with ErbB4 in breast cancer. *Cancer Res* 67: 9330–9336.
- Armitage P, Doll R. 1954. The age distribution of cancer and a multi-stage theory of carcinogenesis. *Br J Cancer* 8: 1–12.
- Arteaga CL, Engelman JA. 2014. ERBB receptors: from oncogene discovery to basic science to mechanism-based cancer therapeutics. *Cancer Cell* 25: 282–303.
- Aurisicchio L, Marra E, Roscilli G, Mancini R, Ciliberto G. 2012. The promise of anti-ErbB3 monoclonals as new cancer therapeutics. *Oncotarget* 3: 744–758.
- Bacus SS, Chin D, Yarden Y, Zelnick CR, Stern DF. 1996. Type 1 receptor tyrosine kinases are differentially phosphorylated in mammary carcinoma and differentially associated with steroid receptors. *Am J Pathol* **148**: 549–58.
- Bae JH, Schlessinger J. 2010. Asymmetric tyrosine kinase arrangements in activation or autophosphorylation of receptor tyrosine kinases. *Mol Cells* 29: 443–8.
- Baiocchi G, Lopes A, Coudry RA, Rossi BM, Soares FA, Aguiar S, Guimarães GC, Ferreira FO, Nakagawa WT. 2009. ErbB family immunohistochemical expression in colorectal cancer patients with higher risk of recurrence after radical surgery. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 24: 1059–68.
- Banerji S, Cibulskis K, Rangel-Escareno C, Brown KK, Carter SL, Frederick AM, Lawrence MS, Sivachenko AY, Sougnez C, Zou L, et al.

2012. Sequence analysis of mutations and translocations across breast cancer subtypes. *Nature* **486**: 405–9.

- Bang Y-J, Van Cutsem E, Feyereislova A, Chung HC, Shen L, Sawaki A, Lordick F, Ohtsu A, Omuro Y, Satoh T, et al. 2010. Trastuzumab in combination with chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone for treatment of HER2-positive advanced gastric or gastro-oesophageal junction cancer (ToGA): a phase 3, open-label, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* **376**: 687–97.
- Bargmann C, Hung M, Weinberg R. 1986. Multiple independent activations of the neu oncogene by a point mutation altering the transmembrane domain of p185. *Cell* 45: 649–57.
- Bargmann C, Weinberg R. 1988. Oncogenic activation of the neu-encoded receptor protein by point mutation and deletion. *EMBO J* 7: 2043–2052.
- Barretina J, Taylor BS, Banerji S, Ramos AH, Lagos-Quintana M, Decarolis PL, Shah K, Socci ND, Weir BA, Ho A, et al. 2010. Subtype-specific genomic alterations define new targets for soft-tissue sarcoma therapy. *Nat Genet* 42: 715–21.
- Baulida J, Kraus M, Alimandi M, Di Fiore P, Carpenter G. 1996. All ErbB Receptors Other Than the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Are Endocytosis Impaired. *J Biol Chem* 271: 5251–5257.
- Biankin A V, Waddell N, Kassahn KS, Gingras M-C, Muthuswamy LB, Johns AL, Miller DK, Wilson PJ, Patch A-M, Wu J, et al. 2012. Pancreatic cancer genomes reveal aberrations in axon guidance pathway genes. *Nature* **491**: 399–405.
- Bièche I, Onody P, Tozlu S, Driouch K, Vidaud M, Lidereau R. 2003. Prognostic value of ERBB family mRNA expression in breast carcinomas. *Int J Cancer* 106: 758–65.
- Bishop J. 1985. Viral oncogenes. Cell 42: 23-38.
- Blokhuis AM, Groen EJN, Koppers M, van den Berg LH, Pasterkamp RJ. 2013. Protein aggregation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Acta Neuropathol* 125: 777–94.
- Blume-Jensen P, Hunter T. 2001. Oncogenic kinase signalling. *Nature* 411: 355–65.
- Bose R, Kavuri SM, Searleman AC, Shen W, Shen D, Koboldt DC, Monsey J, Goel N, Aronson AB, Li S, et al. 2013. Activating HER2 mutations in HER2 gene amplification negative breast cancer. *Cancer Discov* 3: 224–37.
- Bouyain S, Longo PA, Li S, Ferguson KM, Leahy DJ. 2005. The extracellular region of ErbB4 adopts a

tethered conformation in the absence of ligand. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**: 15024–9.

- Burkhart DL, Sage J. 2008. Cellular mechanisms of tumour suppression by the retinoblastoma gene. *Nat Rev Cancer* 8: 671–82.
- Carlsson T, Schindler FR, Höllerhage M, Depboylu C, Arias-Carrión O, Schnurrbusch S, Rösler TW, Wozny W, Schwall GP, Groebe K, et al. 2011. Systemic administration of neuregulin-1β1 protects dopaminergic neurons in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *J Neurochem* **117**: 1066–74.
- Carpenter G, Ji QS. 1999. Phospholipase C-gamma as a signal-transducing element. *Exp Cell Res* **253**: 15–24.
- Carraway K, Weber J, Unger M, Ledesma J, Yu N, Gassman M, Lai C. 1997. Neuregulin-2, a new ligand of ErbB3/ErbB4-eceptors tyrosine kinases. *Nature* **387**: 512–6.
- Chang H, Riese II D, Gilbert W, Stern D, McMahan U. 1997. Ligands for ErbB-family receptors encoded by a neuregulin-like gene. *Nature* 387: 509–12.
- Chaudhury AR, Gerecke KM, Wyss JM, Morgan DG, Gordon MN, Carroll SL. 2003. Neuregulin-1 and erbB4 immunoreactivity is associated with neuritic plaques in Alzheimer disease brain and in a transgenic model of Alzheimer disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 62: 42–54.
- Cho H, Mason K, Ramyar KX, Stanley AM. 2003. Structure of the extracellular region of HER2 alone and in complex with the Herceptin Fab. 421.
- Cho H-S, Leahy DJ. 2002. Structure of the extracellular region of HER3 reveals an interdomain tether. *Science* **297**: 1330–3.
- Citri A, Yarden Y. 2006. EGF-ERBB signalling: towards the systems level. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 7: 505–16.
- Cohen BD, Kiener PA, Green JM, Foy L, Fell HP, Zhang K. 1996. The relationship between human epidermal growth-like factor receptor expression and cellular transformation in NIH3T3 cells. *J Biol Chem* 271: 30897–903.
- Collado M, Serrano M. 2010. Senescence in tumours: evidence from mice and humans. *Nat Rev Cancer* 10: 51–7.
- Datta S, Brunet A, Greenberg M. 1999. Cellular survival: a play in three Akts. *Genes Dev* 13: 2905–2927.
- Dawson J, Berger M, Lin C-C, Schlessinger J, Lemmon M, Ferguson K. 2005. Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Dimerization and Activation Require Ligand-Induced Conformational Changes in the Dimer Interface. *Mol Cell Biol* 25: 7734–7742.
- Deenen MJ, Cats A, Beijnen JH, Schellens JHM. 2011a. Part 2: pharmacogenetic variability in drug

transport and phase I anticancer drug metabolism. *Oncologist* **16**: 820–34.

- Deenen MJ, Cats A, Beijnen JH, Schellens JHM. 2011b. Part 3: Pharmacogenetic variability in phase II anticancer drug metabolism. *Oncologist* 16: 992–1005.
- Deenen MJ, Cats A, Beijnen JH, Schellens JHM. 2011c. Part 4: pharmacogenetic variability in anticancer pharmacodynamic drug effects. *Oncologist* 16: 1006–20.
- Depboylu C, Höllerhage M, Schnurrbusch S, Brundin P, Oertel WH, Schrattenholz A, Höglinger GU. 2012. Neuregulin-1 receptor tyrosine kinase ErbB4 is upregulated in midbrain dopaminergic neurons in Parkinson disease. *Neurosci Lett* 531: 209–14.
- Ding L, Getz G, Wheeler DA, Mardis ER, McLellan MD, Cibulskis K, Sougnez C, Greulich H, Muzny DM, Morgan MB, et al. 2008. Somatic mutations affect key pathways in lung adenocarcinoma. *Nature* 455: 1069–75.
- Downward J, Yarden Y, Mayes E, Scrace G, Totty N, Ullrich A, Schlessinger J, Waterfield M. 1984. Close similarity of epidermal growth factor receptor and v-erb-B oncogene protein sequences. *Nature* **307**: 521–7.
- Dulak AM, Stojanov P, Peng S, Lawrence MS, Fox C, Stewart C, Bandla S, Imamura Y, Schumacher SE, Shefler E, et al. 2013. Exome and whole-genome sequencing of esophageal adenocarcinoma identifies recurrent driver events and mutational complexity. *Nat Genet* **45**: 478–86.
- Elenius K, Choi CJ, Paul S, Santiestevan E, Nishi E, Klagsbrun M. 1999. Characterization of a naturally occurring ErbB4 isoform that does not bind or activate phosphatidyl inositol 3-kinase. *Oncogene* 18: 2607–15.
- Elenius K, Corfas G, Paul S, Choi CJ, Rio C, Plowman GD, Klagsbrun M. 1997a. A novel juxtamembrane domain isoform of HER4/ErbB4. Isoform-specific tissue distribution and differential processing in response to phorbol ester. *J Biol Chem* 272: 26761–8.
- Elenius K, Paul S, Allison G, Sun J, Klagsbrun M. 1997b. Activation of HER4 by heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor stimulates chemotaxis but not proliferation. *EMBO J* 16: 1268–78.
- Endres NF, Das R, Smith AW, Arkhipov A, Kovacs E, Huang Y, Pelton JG, Shan Y, Shaw DE, Wemmer DE, et al. 2013. Conformational coupling across the plasma membrane in activation of the EGF receptor. *Cell* **152**: 543–56.
- Fearon E, Vogelstein B. 1990. A Genetic Model for Colorectal Tumorigenesis. *Cell* 61: 759–767.
- Ferguson KM, Berger MB, Mendrola JM, Cho H-S, Leahy DJ, Lemmon MA. 2003. EGF Activates Its Receptor by Removing Interactions that Autoinhibit Ectodomain Dimerization. *Mol Cell* 11: 507–517.

- Ferguson KM, Darling PJ, Mohan MJ, Macatee TL, Lemmon MA. 2000. Extracellular domains drive homo- but not hetero-dimerization of erbB receptors. *EMBO J* 19: 4632–43.
- Ferretti E, Di Marcotullio L, Gessi M, Mattei T, Greco A, Po A, De Smaele E, Giangaspero F, Riccardi R, Di Rocco C, et al. 2006. Alternative splicing of the ErbB-4 cytoplasmic domain and its regulation by hedgehog signaling identify distinct medulloblastoma subsets. Oncogene 25: 7267–73.
- Franceschi E, Cavallo G, Lonardi S, Magrini E, Tosoni A, Grosso D, Scopece L, Blatt V, Urbini B, Pession A, et al. 2007. Gefitinib in patients with progressive high-grade gliomas: a multicentre phase II study by Gruppo Italiano Cooperativo di Neuro-Oncologia (GICNO). Br J Cancer 96: 1047–51.
- Frederick L, Wang XY, Eley G, James CD. 2000. Diversity and frequency of epidermal growth factor receptor mutations in human glioblastomas. *Cancer Res* 60: 1383–7.
- Gan HK, Cvrljevic AN, Johns TG. 2013. The epidermal growth factor receptor variant III (EGFRvIII): where wild things are altered. *FEBS J* 280: 5350–70.
- Gao R, Zhang J, Cheng L, Wu X, Dong W, Yang X, Li T, Liu X, Xu Y, Li X, et al. 2010. A Phase II, randomized, double-blind, multicenter, based on standard therapy, placebo-controlled study of the efficacy and safety of recombinant human neuregulin-1 in patients with chronic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 55: 1907–14.
- Garrett T, McKern N, Lou M. 2003. The Crystal Structure of a Truncated ErbB2 Ectodomain Reveals an Active Conformation, Poised to Interact with Other ErbB Receptors. *Mol Cell* 11: 495–505.
- Garrett TPJ, McKern NM, Lou M, Elleman TC, Adams TE, Lovrecz GO, Zhu H-J, Walker F, Frenkel MJ, Hoyne P a, et al. 2002. Crystal structure of a truncated epidermal growth factor receptor extracellular domain bound to transforming growth factor alpha. *Cell* **110**: 763–73.
- Gassmann M, Casagranda F, Orioli D, Simon H, Lai C, Klein R, Lemke G. 1995. Aberrant neural and cardiac development in mice lacking the ErbB4 neuregulin receptor. *Nature* 378: 390–4.
- Gerlai R, Pisacane P, Erickson S. 2000. Heregulin, but not ErbB2 or ErbB3, heterozygous mutant mice exhibit hyperactivity in multiple behavioral tasks. *Behav Brain Res* 109: 219–27.
- Gilbertson RJ, Perry RH, Kelly PJ, Pearson AD, Lunec J. 1997. Prognostic Significance of HER2 and HER4 Coexpression in Childhood Medulloblastoma. *Cancer Res* 57: 3272–3280.
- Golub MS, Germann SL, Lloyd KCK. 2004. Behavioral characteristics of a nervous system-specific erbB4 knock-out mouse. *Behav Brain Res* 153: 159–70.

- Gotoh N, Tojo A, Hino M, Yazaki Y, Shibuya M. 1992. A highly conserved tyrosine residue at codon 845 within the kinase domain is not required for the transforming activity of human epidermal growth factor receptor. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 186: 768–774.
- Graus-Porta D, Beerli RR, Daly JM, Hynes NE. 1997. ErbB-2, the preferred heterodimerization partner of all ErbB receptors, is a mediator of lateral signaling. *EMBO J* 16: 1647–55.
- Greulich H, Kaplan B, Mertins P, Chen T-H, Tanaka K, Yun C-H, Zhang X, Lee S-H, Cho J, Ambrogio L, et al. 2012. Functional analysis of receptor tyrosine kinase mutations in lung cancer identifies oncogenic extracellular domain mutations of ERBB2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* **109**: 14476–14481.
- Griner EM, Kazanietz MG. 2007. Protein kinase C and other diacylglycerol effectors in cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 7: 281–94.
- Gullick WJ. 1996. The c-erbB3/HER3 receptor in human cancer. *Cancer Surv* 27: 339–49.
- Guo G, Sun X, Chen C, Wu S, Huang P, Li Z, Dean M, Huang Y, Jia W, Zhou Q, et al. 2013. Whole-genome and whole-exome sequencing of bladder cancer identifies frequent alterations in genes involved in sister chromatid cohesion and segregation. *Nat Genet* 45: 1459–63.
- Gur G, Rubin C, Katz M, Amit I, Citri A, Nilsson J, Amariglio N, Henriksson R, Rechavi G, Hedman H, et al. 2004. LRIG1 restricts growth factor signaling by enhancing receptor ubiquitylation and degradation. *EMBO J* 23: 3270–81.
- Guy PM, Platko J V, Cantleyt LC, Cerione RA, Carraway III KL. 1994. Insect cell-expressed p180erbB3 possesses an impaired tyrosine kinase activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* **91**: 8132–8136.
- Hahn W, Weinberg R. 2002. Rules for making human tumor cells. *N Engl J Med* **347**: 1593–1603.
- Hahn WC, Counter CM, Lundberg AS, Beijersbergen RL, Brooks MW, Weinberg RA. 1999. Creation of human tumour cells with defined genetic elements. *Nature* 400: 464–8.
- Hanahan D, Weinberg R. 2000. The Hallmarks of Cancer. *Cell* **100**: 57–70.
- Hanahan D, Weinberg R. 2011. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* **144**: 646–74.
- Harari D, Tzahar E, Romano J, Shelly M, Pierce JH, Andrews GC, Yarden Y. 1999. Neuregulin-4: a novel growth factor that acts through the ErbB-4 receptor tyrosine kinase. *Oncogene* 18: 2681–9.
- Hegde GV, de la Cruz CC, Chiu C, Alag N, Schaefer G, Crocker L, Ross S, Goldenberg D, Merchant M, Tien J, et al. 2013. Blocking NRG1 and other ligandmediated Her4 signaling enhances the magnitude and

duration of the chemotherapeutic response of nonsmall cell lung cancer. *Sci Transl Med* **5**: 171ra18.

- Hodis E, Watson IR, Kryukov G V, Arold ST, Imielinski M, Theurillat J-P, Nickerson E, Auclair D, Li L, Place C, et al. 2012. A landscape of driver mutations in melanoma. *Cell* **150**: 251–63.
- Huang YZ, Won S, Ali DW, Wang Q, Tanowitz M, Du QS, Pelkey KA, Yang DJ, Xiong WC, Salter MW, et al. 2000. Regulation of neuregulin signaling by PSD-95 interacting with ErbB4 at CNS synapses. *Neuron* 26: 443–55.
- Hudziak RM, Lewis GD, Winget M, Fendly BM, Shepard HM, Ullrich A. 1989. p185HER2 Monoclonal Antibody Has Antiproliferative Effects In Vitro and Sensitizes Human Breast Tumor Cells to Tumor Necrosis Factor. *Mol Cell Biol* 9: 1165–1172.
- Imielinski M, Berger AH, Hammerman PS, Hernandez B, Pugh TJ, Hodis E, Cho J, Suh J, Capelletti M, Sivachenko A, et al. 2012. Mapping the hallmarks of lung adenocarcinoma with massively parallel sequencing. *Cell* 150: 1107–20.
- Jabbour A, Hayward CS, Keogh AM, Kotlyar E, McCrohon J a, England JF, Amor R, Liu X, Li XY, Zhou MD, et al. 2011. Parenteral administration of recombinant human neuregulin-1 to patients with stable chronic heart failure produces favourable acute and chronic haemodynamic responses. *Eur J Heart Fail* 13: 83–92.
- Jaiswal BS, Kljavin NM, Stawiski EW, Chan E, Parikh C, Durinck S, Chaudhuri S, Pujara K, Guillory J, Edgar K a, et al. 2013. Oncogenic ERBB3 mutations in human cancers. *Cancer Cell* 23: 603–17.
- Joensuu H, Kellokumpu-Lehtinen P-L, Bono P, Alanko T, Kataja V, Asola R, Utriainen T, Kokko R, Hemminki A, Tarkkanen M, et al. 2006. Adjuvant docetaxel or vinorelbine with or without trastuzumab for breast cancer. *N Engl J Med* **354**: 809–20.
- Johnston JA, Dalton MJ, Gurney ME, Kopito RR. 2000. Formation of high molecular weight complexes of mutant Cu, Zn-superoxide dismutase in a mouse model for familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97: 12571–6.
- Junttila MR, Evan GI. 2009. p53--a Jack of all trades but master of none. *Nat Rev Cancer* **9**: 821–9.
- Junttila TT, Laato M, Vahlberg T, Söderström K-O, Visakorpi T, Isola J, Elenius K. 2003. Identification of Patients with Transitional Cell Carcinoma of the Bladder Overexpressing ErbB2, ErbB3, or Specific ErbB4 Isoforms : Real-Time Reverse Transcription-PCR Analysis in Estimation of ErbB Receptor Status from Cancer Patients. *Clin Cancer Res* 9: 5346–5357.
- Junttila TT, Sundvall M, Lundin M, Lundin J, Tanner M, Härkönen P, Joensuu H, Isola J, Elenius K. 2005. Cleavable ErbB4 isoform in estrogen receptor-

regulated growth of breast cancer cells. *Cancer Res* **65**: 1384–93.

- Jura N, Endres NF, Engel K, Deindl S, Das R, Lamers MH, Wemmer DE, Zhang X, Kuriyan J. 2009a. Mechanism for activation of the EGF receptor catalytic domain by the juxtamembrane segment. *Cell* **137**: 1293–307.
- Jura N, Shan Y, Cao X, Shaw DE, Kuriyan J. 2009b. Structural analysis of the catalytically inactive kinase domain of the human EGF receptor 3. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **106**: 21608–13.
- Jura N, Zhang X, Endres NF, Seeliger MA, Schindler T, Kuriyan J. 2011. Catalytic control in the EGF receptor and its connection to general kinase regulatory mechanisms. *Mol Cell* **42**: 9–22.
- Kan Z, Jaiswal BS, Stinson J, Janakiraman V, Bhatt D, Stern HM, Yue P, Haverty PM, Bourgon R, Zheng J, et al. 2010. Diverse somatic mutation patterns and pathway alterations in human cancers. *Nature* 466: 869–73.
- Kandoth C, McLellan MD, Vandin F, Ye K, Niu B, Lu C, Xie M, Zhang Q, McMichael JF, Wyczalkowski M a, et al. 2013. Mutational landscape and significance across 12 major cancer types. *Nature* **502**: 333–9.
- Karch CM, Prudencio M, Winkler DD, Hart PJ, Borchelt DR. 2009. Role of mutant SOD1 disulfide oxidation and aggregation in the pathogenesis of familial ALS. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106: 7774–9.
- Kawamoto T, Sato JD, Le A, Polikoff J, Sato GH, Mendelsohn J. 1983. Growth stimulation of A431 cells by epidermal growth factor: identification of high-affinity receptors for epidermal growth factor by an anti-receptor monoclonal antibody. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 80: 1337–41.
- Kew TY, Bell JA, Pinder SE, Denley H, Srinivasan R, Gullick WJ, Nicholson RI, Blamey RW, Ellis IO. 2000. c-erbB-4 protein expression in human breast cancer. *Br J Cancer* 82: 1163–70.
- Kiernan MC, Vucic S, Cheah BC, Turner MR, Eisen A, Hardiman O, Burrell JR, Zoing MC. 2011. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Lancet* 377: 942–55.
- Kim H, Lee J-Y, Sung H, Choi J-Y, Park SK, Lee K-M, Kim YJ, Go MJ, Li L, Cho YS, et al. 2012. A genome-wide association study identifies a breast cancer risk variant in ERBB4 at 2q34: results from the Seoul Breast Cancer Study. *Breast Cancer Res* 14: R56.
- Kim S, Hagemann A, DeMichele A. 2009. Immuno-Modulatory Gene Polymorphisms and Outcome in Breast and Ovarian Cancer. *Immunol Invest* 38: 324–340.
- King AC, Cuatrecasas P. 1982. Resolution of High and Low Affinity Epidermal Growth Factor Receptors. J Biol Chem 257: 3053–3060.

- Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. 1996. Lessons from hereditary colorectal cancer. Cell 87: 159–70.
- Klein P, Mattoon D, Lemmon MA, Schlessinger J. 2004. A structure-based model for ligand binding and dimerization of EGF receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **101**: 929–34.
- Komuro A, Nagai M, Navin NE, Sudol M. 2003. WW domain-containing protein YAP associates with ErbB-4 and acts as a co-transcriptional activator for the carboxyl-terminal fragment of ErbB-4 that translocates to the nucleus. *J Biol Chem* **278**: 33334–41.
- Koutras AK, Kalogeras KT, Dimopoulos M, Wirtz RM, Dafni U, Briasoulis E, Pectasides D. 2008. Evaluation of the prognostic and predictive value of HER family mRNA expression in high-risk early breast cancer : A Hellenic Cooperative Oncology Group (HeCOG) study. 1775–1785.
- Krauthammer M, Kong Y, Ha BH, Evans P, Bacchiocchi A, McCusker JP, Cheng E, Davis MJ, Goh G, Choi M, et al. 2012. Exome sequencing identifies recurrent somatic RAC1 mutations in melanoma. *Nat Genet* 44: 1006–14.
- Kurppa KJ, Catón J, Morgan PR, Ristimäki A, Ruhin B, Kellokoski J, Elenius K, Heikinheimo K. 2014. High frequency of BRAF V600E mutations in ameloblastoma. *J Pathol* 232: 492–8.
- Laederich MB, Funes-Duran M, Yen L, Ingalla E, Wu X, Carraway KL, Sweeney C. 2004. The leucinerich repeat protein LRIG1 is a negative regulator of ErbB family receptor tyrosine kinases. *J Biol Chem* 279: 47050–6.
- Law AJ, Kleinman JE, Weinberger DR, Weickert CS. 2007. Disease-associated intronic variants in the ErbB4 gene are related to altered ErbB4 splice-variant expression in the brain in schizophrenia. *Hum Mol Genet* **16**: 129–41.
- Lax I, Johnson A, Howk R, Sap J, Bellot F, Winkler M, Ullrich A, Vennstrom B, Schlessinger J, Givol D. 1988. Chicken Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF) Receptor: cDNA Cloning, Expression in Mouse Cells, and Differential Binding of EGF and Transforming Growth Factor Alpha. *Mol Cell Biol* 8: 1970–1978.
- Lee H-J, Jung K-M, Huang YZ, Bennett LB, Lee JS, Mei L, Kim T-W. 2002a. Presenilin-dependent gamma-secretase-like intramembrane cleavage of ErbB4. *J Biol Chem* 277: 6318–23.
- Lee JC, Vivanco I, Beroukhim R, Huang JHY, Feng WL, DeBiasi RM, Yoshimoto K, King JC, Nghiemphu P, Yuza Y, et al. 2006. Epidermal growth factor receptor activation in glioblastoma through novel missense mutations in the extracellular domain. *PLoS Med* **3**: e485.
- Lee JC, Wang S-T, Chow N-H, Yang H-B. 2002b. Investigation of the prognostic value of coexpressed

erbB family members for the survival of colorectal cancer patients after curative surgery. *Eur J Cancer* **38**: 1065–71.

- Lemmon MA, Schlessinger J. 2010. Cell signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases. *Cell* **141**: 1117–34.
- Lemmon MA, Schlessinger J, Ferguson KM. 2014. The EGFR family: not so prototypical receptor tyrosine kinases. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* 6: a020768.
- Linggi B, Carpenter G. 2006. ErbB-4 s80 intracellular domain abrogates ETO2-dependent transcriptional repression. *J Biol Chem* 281: 25373–80.
- Liu P, Cleveland TE, Bouyain S, Byrne PO, Longo PA, Leahy DJ. 2012. A single ligand is sufficient to activate EGFR dimers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 109: 10861–6.
- Lodge AJ, Anderson JJ, Gullick WJ, Haugk B, Leonard RCF, Angus B. 2003. Type 1 growth factor receptor expression in node positive breast cancer: adverse prognostic significance of c-erbB-4. *J Clin Pathol* 56: 300–4.
- Lofts F, Gullick W. 1992. c-erbB2 amplification and overexpression in human tumors. *cancer Treat Res* 61: 161–79.
- Lohr JG, Stojanov P, Carter SL, Cruz-Gordillo P, Lawrence MS, Auclair D, Sougnez C, Knoechel B, Gould J, Saksena G, et al. 2014. Widespread genetic heterogeneity in multiple myeloma: implications for targeted therapy. *Cancer Cell* 25: 91–101.
- Lu C, Mi L-Z, Grey MJ, Zhu J, Graef E, Yokoyama S, Springer TA. 2010. Structural evidence for loose linkage between ligand binding and kinase activation in the epidermal growth factor receptor. *Mol Cell Biol* **30**: 5432–43.
- Lynch T, Bell D, Sordella R, Gurubhagavatula S, Okimoto R, Brannigan B, Harris P, Haserlat B, Supko J, Haluska F, et al. 2004. Activating Mutations in the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Underlying Responsiveness of Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer to Gefitinib. N Engl J Med 350: 2129–2139.
- Määttä J, Sundvall M, Junttila T, Peri L, Laine VJO, Isola J, Egeblad M, Elenius K. 2006. Proteolytic cleavage and phosphorylation of a tumor-associated ErbB4 isoform promote ligand-independent survival and cancer cell growth. *Mol Biol Cell* 17: 67–79.
- Macdonald JL, Pike LJ. 2008. Heterogeneity in EGFbinding affinities arises from negative cooperativity in an aggregating system. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105: 112–7.
- Macdonald-Obermann JL, Pike LJ. 2009. The intracellular juxtamembrane domain of the epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor is responsible for the allosteric regulation of EGF binding. J Biol Chem 284: 13570–6.

- Machleidt A, Buchholz S, Diermeier-Daucher S, Zeman F, Ortmann O, Brockhoff G. 2013. The prognostic value of Her4 receptor isoform expression in triplenegative and Her2 positive breast cancer patients. *BMC Cancer* 13: 437.
- Margolis B, Rhee SG, Felder S, Mervic M, Lyall R, Levitzki A, Ullrich A, Zilberstein A, Schlessinger J. 1989. EGF induces tyrosine phosphorylation of phospholipase C-II: a potential mechanism for EGF receptor signaling. *Cell* 57: 1101–7.
- Mattoon D, Klein P, Lemmon MA, Lax I, Schlessinger J. 2004. The tethered configuration of the EGF receptor extracellular domain exerts only a limited control of receptor function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A 101: 923–8.
- Mei L, Xiong W-C. 2008. Neuregulin 1 in neural development, synaptic plasticity and schizophrenia. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 9: 437–52.
- Memon AA, Sorensen BS, Melgard P, Fokdal L, Thykjaer T, Nexo E. 2004. Expression of HER3, HER4 and their ligand heregulin-4 is associated with better survival in bladder cancer patients. *Br J Cancer* **91**: 2034–41.
- Merimsky O, Issakov J, Bickels J, Kollender Y, Flusser G, Soyfer V, Schwartz I, Inbar M, Meller I. 2002. ErbB-4 expression in limb soft-tissue sarcoma: correlation with the results of neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Eur J Cancer* **38**: 1335–42.
- Merimsky O, Kollender Y, Issakov J, Inbar M, Flusser G, Benayahu G, Meller I, Bickels J. 2003. Induction chemotherapy for bone sarcoma in adults : correlation of results with erbB-4 expression. *Oncol Rep* **10**: 1593–9.
- Merimsky O, Staroselsky A, Inbar M, Schwartz Y, Wigler N, Mann A, Marmor S, Greif J. 2001. Correlation between c-erbB-4 receptor expression and response to gemcitabine-cisplatin chemotherapy in non-small-cell lung cancer. *Ann Oncol* 12: 1127– 1131.
- Millecamps S, Salachas F, Cazeneuve C, Gordon P, Bricka B, Camuzat A, Guillot-Noël L, Russaouen O, Bruneteau G, Pradat P-F, et al. 2010. SOD1, ANG, VAPB, TARDBP, and FUS mutations in familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: genotype-phenotype correlations. *J Med Genet* 47: 554–60.
- Min SS, An J, Lee J-H, Seol GH, Im JH, Kim H-S, Baik T-K, Woo R-S. 2011. Neuregulin-1 prevents amyloid β-induced impairment of long-term potentiation in hippocampal slices via ErbB4. *Neurosci Lett* **505**: 6–9.
- Monsey J, Shen W, Schlesinger P, Bose R. 2010. Her4 and Her2/neu tyrosine kinase domains dimerize and activate in a reconstituted in vitro system. J Biol Chem 285: 7035–44.
- Murabito JM, Rosenberg CL, Finger D, Kreger BE, Levy D, Splansky GL, Antman K, Hwang S-J. 2007.

A genome-wide association study of breast and prostate cancer in the NHLBI's Framingham Heart Study. *BMC Med Genet* **8** Suppl 1: S6.

- Muraoka-Cook RS, Sandahl MA, Strunk KE, Miraglia LC, Husted C, Hunter DM, Elenius K, Chodosh LA, Earp HS. 2009. ErbB4 splice variants Cyt1 and Cyt2 differ by 16 amino acids and exert opposing effects on the mammary epithelium in vivo. *Mol Cell Biol* **29**: 4935–48.
- Muraoka-cook RS, Sandahl M, Husted C, Hunter D, Miraglia L, Feng S, Elenius K, Earp HS. 2006. The Intracellular Domain of ErbB4 Induces Differentiation of Mammary Epithelial Cells. 17: 4118–4129.
- Narod SA, Foulkes WD. 2004. BRCA1 and BRCA2: 1994 and beyond. *Nat Rev Cancer* 4: 665–76.
- Ni CY, Murphy MP, Golde TE, Carpenter G. 2001. gamma -Secretase cleavage and nuclear localization of ErbB-4 receptor tyrosine kinase. *Science* 294: 2179–81.
- Nicodemus KK, Luna A, Vakkalanka R, Goldberg T, Egan M, Straub RE, Weinberger DR. 2006. Further evidence for association between ErbB4 and schizophrenia and influence on cognitive intermediate phenotypes in healthy controls. *Mol Psychiatry* **11**: 1062–5.
- Norton N, Moskvina V, Morris DW, Bray NJ, Zammit S, Williams NM, Williams HJ, Preece AC, Dwyer S, Wilkinson JC, et al. 2006. Evidence that interaction between neuregulin 1 and its receptor erbB4 increases susceptibility to schizophrenia. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet* **141B**: 96–101.
- Ogiso H, Ishitani R, Nureki O, Fukai S, Yamanaka M, Kim J-H, Saito K, Sakamoto A, Inoue M, Shirouzu M, et al. 2002. Crystal structure of the complex of human epidermal growth factor and receptor extracellular domains. *Cell* **110**: 775–87.
- Olayioye MA, Beuvink I, Horsch K, Daly JM, Hynes NE. 1999. ErbB receptor-induced activation of stat transcription factors is mediated by Src tyrosine kinases. *J Biol Chem* 274: 17209–18.
- Olayioye MA, Graus-porta D, Beerli RR, Rohrer J, Gay B, Hynes NE. 1998. ErbB-1 and ErbB-2 Acquire Distinct Signaling Properties Dependent upon Their Dimerization Partner. *Mol Cell Biol* 18: 5042–5051.
- Paatero I, Jokilammi A, Heikkinen PT, Iljin K, Kallioniemi O-P, Jones FE, Jaakkola PM, Elenius K. 2012. Interaction with ErbB4 promotes hypoxiainducible factor-1α signaling. J Biol Chem 287: 9659–71.
- Paatero I, Lassus H, Junttila TT, Kaskinen M, Bützow R, Elenius K. 2013. CYT-1 isoform of ErbB4 is an independent prognostic factor in serous ovarian cancer and selectively promotes ovarian cancer cell growth in vitro. *Gynecol Oncol* 129: 179–87.

- Paez JG, Jänne PA, Lee JC, Tracy S, Greulich H, Gabriel S, Herman P, Kaye FJ, Lindeman N, Boggon TJ, et al. 2004. EGFR mutations in lung cancer: correlation with clinical response to gefitinib therapy. *Science* **304**: 1497–500.
- Pao W, Chmielecki J. 2010. Rational, biologically based treatment of EGFR-mutant non-small-cell lung cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 10: 760–74.
- Pao W, Miller V, Zakowski M, Doherty J, Politi K, Sarkaria I, Singh B, Heelan R, Rusch V, Fulton L, et al. 2004. EGF receptor gene mutations are common in lung cancers from "never smokers" and are associated with sensitivity of tumors to gefitinib and erlotinib. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101: 13306–11.
- Parsons DW, Wang T-L, Samuels Y, Bardelli A, Cummins JM, DeLong L, Silliman N, Ptak J, Szabo S, Willson JK V, et al. 2005. Colorectal cancer: mutations in a signalling pathway. *Nature* 436: 792.
- Pearson RJ, Carroll SL. 2004. ErbB transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptors are expressed by sensory and motor neurons projecting into sciatic nerve. J Histochem Cytochem 52: 1299–311.
- Peifer M, Fernández-Cuesta L, Sos ML, George J, Seidel D, Kasper LH, Plenker D, Leenders F, Sun R, Zander T, et al. 2012. Integrative genome analyses identify key somatic driver mutations of small-cell lung cancer. *Nat Genet* 44: 1104–10.
- Peles E, Levy R, Or E, Ullrich A, Yarden Y. 1991. Oncogenic forms of the neu/HER2 tyrosine kinase are permanently coupled to phospholipase C-y. *EMBO J* 10: 2077–2086.
- Plowman GD, Culouscou JM, Whitney GS, Green JM, Carlton GW, Foy L, Neubauer MG, Shoyab M. 1993. Ligand-specific activation of HER4/p180erbB4, a fourth member of the epidermal growth factor receptor family. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* **90**: 1746–1750.
- Plowman GD, Whitney GS, Neubauer MG, Green JM, McDonald VL, Todaro GJ, Shoyab M. 1990. Molecular cloning and expression of an additional epidermal growth factor receptor-related gene. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 87: 4905–9.
- Prickett TD, Agrawal NS, Wei X, Yates KE, Lin JC, Wunderlich JR, Cronin JC, Cruz P, Sequencing NC, Rosenberg SA, et al. 2009. Analysis of the tyrosine kinome in melanoma reveals recurrent mutations in ERBB4. *Nat Genet* **41**: 1127–32.
- Prudencio M, Borchelt DR. 2011. Superoxide dismutase 1 encoding mutations linked to ALS adopts a spectrum of misfolded states. *Mol Neurodegener* 6: 77.
- Prudencio M, Hart PJ, Borchelt DR, Andersen PM. 2009. Variation in aggregation propensities among ALS-associated variants of SOD1: correlation to human disease. *Hum Mol Genet* 18: 3217–26.

- Qiu C, Tarrant MK, Choi SH, Sathyamurthy A, Bose R, Banjade S, Pal A, Bornmann WG, Lemmon MA, Cole PA, et al. 2008. Mechanism of activation and inhibition of the HER4/ErbB4 kinase. *Structure* 16: 460–7.
- Querfurth HW, Laferla FM. 2010. Alzheimer's Disease. *N Engl J Med* **362**: 329–344.
- Red Brewer M, Choi SH, Alvarado D, Moravcevic K, Pozzi A, Lemmon MA, Carpenter G. 2009. The juxtamembrane region of the EGF receptor functions as an activation domain. *Mol Cell* 34: 641–51.
- Rhee SG. 2001. Regulation of phosphoinositidespecific phospholipase C. Annu Rev Biochem 70: 281–312.
- Ricart K, J Pearson R, Viera L, Cassina P, Kamaid A, Carroll SL, Estévez AG. 2006. Interactions between beta-neuregulin and neurotrophins in motor neuron apoptosis. J Neurochem 97: 222–33.
- Rich JN, Reardon DA, Peery T, Dowell JM, Quinn JA, Penne KL, Wikstrand CJ, Van Duyn LB, Dancey JE, McLendon RE, et al. 2004. Phase II trial of gefitinib in recurrent glioblastoma. *J Clin Oncol* 22: 133–42.
- Riese II D, Bermingham Y, Van Raaij T, Buckley S, Plowman G, Stern D. 1996a. Betacellulin activates the epidermal growth factor receptor and erbB-4, and induces cellular response patterns distinct from those stimulated by epidermal growth factor or neuregulin-beta. Oncogene 12: 345–53.
- Riese II D, Kim ED, Elenius K, Buckley S, Klagsbrun M, Plowman GD, Stern DF. 1996b. The Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Couples Transforming Growth Factor-alpha, Heparin-binding Epidermal Growth Factor-like Factor, and Amphiregulin to Neu, ErbB-3, and ErbB-4. *J Biol Chem* 271: 20047– 20052.
- Rio C, Buxbaum JD, Peschon JJ, Corfas G. 2000. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha-converting enzyme is required for cleavage of erbB4/HER4. *J Biol Chem* 275: 10379–87.
- Roberts PJ, Der CJ. 2007. Targeting the Raf-MEK-ERK mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade for the treatment of cancer. *Oncogene* 26: 3291–310.
- Rodriguez-Viciana P, Warne PH, Dhand R, Vanhaesebroeck B, Gout I, Fry MJ, Waterfield MD, Downward J. 1994. Phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase as a direct target of Ras. *Nature* 370: 527–32.
- Rokavec M, Justenhoven C, Schroth W, Istrate MA, Haas S, Fischer H-P, Vollmert C, Illig T, Hamann U, Ko Y-D, et al. 2007. A novel polymorphism in the promoter region of ERBB4 is associated with breast and colorectal cancer risk. *Clin Cancer Res* 13: 7506–14.
- Ross CA, Tabrizi SJ. 2011. Huntington's disease: from molecular pathogenesis to clinical treatment. *Lancet Neurol* 10: 83–98.

- Rudin CM, Durinck S, Stawiski EW, Poirier JT, Modrusan Z, Shames DS, Bergbower EA, Guan Y, Shin J, Guillory J, et al. 2012. Comprehensive genomic analysis identifies SOX2 as a frequently amplified gene in small-cell lung cancer. *Nat Genet* 44: 1111–6.
- Sakamoto H, Yoshimura K, Saeki N, Katai H, Shimoda T, Matsuno Y, Saito D, Sugimura H, Tanioka F, Kato S, et al. 2008. Genetic variation in PSCA is associated with susceptibility to diffuse-type gastric cancer. *Nat Genet* 40: 730–40.
- Sanderson MP, Dempsey PJ, Dunbar AJ. 2006. Control of ErbB signaling through metalloprotease mediated ectodomain shedding of EGF-like factors. *Growth factors* 24: 121–36.
- Sardi SP, Murtie J, Koirala S, Patten BA, Corfas G. 2006. Presenilin-dependent ErbB4 nuclear signaling regulates the timing of astrogenesis in the developing brain. *Cell* **127**: 185–97.
- Sassen A, Rochon J, Wild P, Hartmann A, Hofstaedter F, Schwarz S, Brockhoff G. 2008. Cytogenetic analysis of HER1/EGFR, HER2, HER3 and HER4 in 278 breast cancer patients. *Breast Cancer Res* 10: R2.
- Savage D, Antman K. 2002. Imatinib mesylate—a new oral targeted therapy. N Engl J Med 346: 683–693.
- Schechter A, Stern D, Vaidyanathan L, Decker S, Drebin J, Greene M, Weinberg R. 1984. The neu oncogene: an erb-B-related gene encoding a 185,000-Mr tumour antigen. *Nature* **312**: 513–6.
- Schindler C, Darnell JE. 1995. Transcriptional responses to polypeptide ligands: the JAK-STAT pathway. Annu Rev Biochem 64: 621–51.
- Schlessinger J. 1986. Allosteric regulation of the epidermal growth factor receptor kinase. J Cell Biol 103: 2067–72.
- Schlessinger J. 2000. Cell signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases. *Cell* **103**: 211–225.
- Schulze WX, Deng L, Mann M. 2005. Phosphotyrosine interactome of the ErbB-receptor kinase family. *Mol Syst Biol* 1: 2005.0008.
- Serrano M, Lin A, McCurrach M, Beach D, Lowe S. 1997. Oncogenic ras Provokes Premature Cell Senescence Associated with Accumulation of p53 and p16 INK4a. *Cell* 88: 593–602.
- Seshagiri S, Stawiski EW, Durinck S, Modrusan Z, Storm EE, Conboy CB, Chaudhuri S, Guan Y, Janakiraman V, Jaiswal BS, et al. 2012. Recurrent R-spondin fusions in colon cancer. *Nature* **488**: 660–4.
- Shah SP, Roth A, Goya R, Oloumi A, Ha G, Zhao Y, Turashvili G, Ding J, Tse K, Haffari G, et al. 2012. The clonal and mutational evolution spectrum of primary triple-negative breast cancers. *Nature* 486: 395–9.

- Sherr CJ, McCormick F. 2002. The RB and p53 pathways in cancer. *Cancer Cell* **2**: 103–12.
- Shi F, Telesco SE, Liu Y, Radhakrishnan R, Lemmon MA. 2010. ErbB3/HER3 intracellular domain is competent to bind ATP and catalyze autophosphorylation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107: 7692–7.
- Shi J, Yao D, Liu W, Wang N, Lv H, He N, Shi B, Hou P, Ji M. 2012. Frequent gene amplification predicts poor prognosis in gastric cancer. *Int J Mol Sci* 13: 4714–26.
- Slamon D, Leyland-Jones B, Shak S, Fuchs H, Paton V, Bajamonde A, Fleming T, Eiermann W, Wolter J, Pegram M, et al. 2001. Use of chemotherapy plus a monoclonal antibody against HER2 for metastatic breast cancer that overexpresses HER2. N Engl J Med 344: 783–792.
- Slamon DJ, Clark GM, Wong SG, Levin WJ, Ullrich A, Mcguire WL. 1987. Human Breast Cancer: Correlation of Relapse and Survival with Amplification of the HER-2lneu Oncogene. *Science* (80-) 235: 177–82.
- Sliwkowski MX. 2012. Pari passu dimers of dimers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 109: 13140–1.
- Solca F, Dahl G, Zoephel A, Bader G, Sanderson M, Klein C, Kraemer O, Himmelsbach F, Haaksma E, Adolf GR. 2012. Target binding properties and cellular activity of afatinib (BIBW 2992), an irreversible ErbB family blocker. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 343: 342–50.
- Song F, Chiang P, Wang J, Ravits J, Loeb JA. 2012. Aberrant neuregulin 1 signaling in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* **71**: 104–15.
- Sorkin A, Goh LK. 2009. Endocytosis and intracellular trafficking of ErbBs. *Exp Cell Res* 315: 683–696.
- Soung YH, Lee JW, Kim SY, Wang YP, Jo KH, Moon SW, Park WS, Nam SW, Lee JY, Yoo NJ, et al. 2006. Somatic mutations of the ERBB4 kinase domain in human cancers. *Int J Cancer* 118: 1426–9.
- Stamos J, Sliwkowski MX, Eigenbrot C. 2002. Structure of the epidermal growth factor receptor kinase domain alone and in complex with a 4-anilinoquinazoline inhibitor. *J Biol Chem* **277**: 46265–72.
- Stefansson H, Sarginson J, Kong A, Yates P, Steinthorsdottir V, Gudfinnsson E, Gunnarsdottir S, Walker N, Petursson H, Crombie C, et al. 2003. Association of neuregulin 1 with schizophrenia confirmed in a Scottish population. *Am J Hum Genet* **72**: 83–7.
- Stefansson H, Sigurdsson E, Steinthorsdottir V, Bjornsdottir S, Sigmundsson T, Ghosh S, Brynjolfsson J, Gunnarsdottir S, Ivarsson O, Chou

TT, et al. 2002. Neuregulin 1 and Susceptibility to Schizophrenia. *Am J Hum Genet* **71**: 877–892.

- Stehelin D, Varmus H, JM B, Vogt P. 1976. DNA related to the transforming gene(s) of avian sarcoma viruses is present in normal avian DNA. *Nature* 260: 170–3.
- Stephens PJ, Tarpey PS, Davies H, Van Loo P, Greenman C, Wedge DC, Nik-Zainal S, Martin S, Varela I, Bignell GR, et al. 2012. The landscape of cancer genes and mutational processes in breast cancer. *Nature* 486: 400–4.
- Stern DF, Heffernan PA, Weinberg RA. 1986. p185, a Product of the neu Proto-Oncogene, Is a Receptorlike Protein Associated with Tyrosine Kinase Activity. *Mol Cell Biol* 6: 1729–40.
- Strachan L, Murison JG, Prestidge RL, Sleeman MA, Watson JD, Kumble KD. 2001. Cloning and biological activity of epigen, a novel member of the epidermal growth factor superfamily. *J Biol Chem* 276: 18265–71.
- Stransky N, Egloff AM, Tward AD, Kostic AD, Cibulskis K, Sivachenko A, Kryukov GV, Lawrence MS, Sougnez C, McKenna A, et al. 2011. The mutational landscape of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Science* 333: 1157–60.
- Sugawa N, Ekstrand AJ, James CD, Collins VP. 1990. Identical splicing of aberrant epidermal growth factor receptor transcripts from amplified rearranged genes in human glioblastomas. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A 87: 8602–6.
- Sundvall M, Korhonen A, Paatero I, GAudio E, Melino G, Croce C, Aqeilan R, Elenius K. 2008. Isoformspecific monoubiquitination, endocytosis, and degradation of alternatively spliced ErbB4 isoforms. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 105: 4162–4167.
- Sundvall M, Korhonen A, Vaparanta K, Anckar J, Halkilahti K, Salah Z, Aqeilan RI, Palvimo JJ, Sistonen L, Elenius K. 2012. Protein inhibitor of activated STAT3 (PIAS3) protein promotes SUMOylation and nuclear sequestration of the intracellular domain of ErbB4 protein. J Biol Chem 287: 23216–26.
- Sundvall M, Veikkolainen V, Kurppa K, Salah Z, Tvorogov D, van Zoelen EJ, Aqeilan R, Elenius K. 2010. Cell death or survival promoted by alternative isoforms of ErbB4. *Mol Biol Cell* **21**: 4275–4286.
- The Cancer Genome Atlas Reserach Network. 2012a. Comprehensive genomic characterization of squamous cell lung cancers. *Nature* **489**: 519–25.
- The Cancer Genome Atlas Reserach Network. 2012b. Comprehensive molecular characterization of human colon and rectal cancer. *Nature* 487: 330–7.
- The Cancer Genome Atlas Reserach Network. 2014. Comprehensive molecular characterization of urothelial bladder carcinoma. *Nature* **507**: 315–22.

- The Cancer Genome Atlas Reserach Network. 2012c. Comprehensive molecular portraits of human breast tumours. *Nature* **490**: 61–70.
- The Cancer Genome Atlas Reserach Network. 2013a. Integrated genomic characterization of endometrial carcinoma. *Nature* **497**: 67–73.
- The Cancer Genome Atlas Reserach Network. 2013b. The somatic genomic landscape of glioblastoma. *Cell* **155**: 462–77.
- Thiel KW, Carpenter G. 2007. Epidermal growth factor receptor juxtamembrane region regulates allosteric tyrosine kinase activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A 104: 19238–43.
- Tsai C-P, Soong B-W, Lin K-P, Tu P-H, Lin J-L, Lee Y-C. 2011. FUS, TARDBP, and SOD1 mutations in a Taiwanese cohort with familial ALS. *Neurobiol Aging* **32**: 553.e13–21.
- Tsuchida N, Ohtsubo E, Ryder T. 1982. Nucleotide Sequence of the Oncogene Encoding the p21 Transforming Protein of Kirsten Murine Sarcoma Virus. *Science (80-)* **217**: 1980–1982.
- Tzahar E, Waterman H, Chen X, Levkowitz G, Karunagaran D, Lavi S, Ratzkin BJ, Yarden Y. 1996. A hierarchical network of interreceptor interactions determines signal transduction by Neu differentiation factor / neuregulin and epidermal growth factor. *Mol Cell Biol* 16: 5276–5287.
- Ullrich A, Coussens L, JS H, Dull T, Gray A, Aw T, Lee J, Yarden Y, TA L, Schlessinger J. 1984. Human epidermal growth factor receptor cDNA sequence and aberrant expression of the amplified gene in A431 epidermoid carcinoma cells. *Nature* **309**: 418–25.
- Van den Bent MJ, Brandes AA, Rampling R, Kouwenhoven MCM, Kros JM, Carpentier AF, Clement PM, Frenay M, Campone M, Baurain J-F, et al. 2009. Randomized phase II trial of erlotinib versus temozolomide or carmustine in recurrent glioblastoma: EORTC brain tumor group study 26034. J Clin Oncol 27: 1268–74.
- Vecchi M, Baulida J, Carpenter G. 1996. Selective Cleavage of the Heregulin Receptor ErbB-4 by Protein Kinase C Activation. J Biol Chem 271: 18989–18995.
- Veikkolainen V, Vaparanta K, Halkilahti K, Iljin K, Sundvall M, Elenius K. 2011. Function of ERBB4 is determined by alternative splicing. *Cell Cycle* 10: 2647–2657.
- Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW. 2004. Cancer genes and the pathways they control. *Nat Med* 10: 789–99.
- Vogelstein B, Papadopoulos N, Velculescu VE, Zhou S, Diaz LA, Kinzler KW. 2013. Cancer genome landscapes. *Science* 339: 1546–58.
- Walker F, Orchard SG, Jorissen RN, Hall NE, Zhang H-H, Hoyne PA, Adams TE, Johns TG, Ward C,

Garrett TPJ, et al. 2004. CR1/CR2 interactions modulate the functions of the cell surface epidermal growth factor receptor. *J Biol Chem* **279**: 22387–98.

- Wang J, Slunt H, Gonzales V, Fromholt D, Coonfield M, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA, Borchelt DR. 2003. Copper-binding-site-null SOD1 causes ALS in transgenic mice: aggregates of non-native SOD1 delineate a common feature. *Hum Mol Genet* 12: 2753–64.
- Wang J, Xu G, Borchelt DR. 2006. Mapping superoxide dismutase 1 domains of non-native interaction: roles of intra- and intermolecular disulfide bonding in aggregation. J Neurochem 96: 1277–88.
- Wang J, Xu G, Slunt HH, Gonzales V, Coonfield M, Fromholt D, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA, Borchelt DR. 2005. Coincident thresholds of mutant protein for paralytic disease and protein aggregation caused by restrictively expressed superoxide dismutase cDNA. *Neurobiol Dis* 20: 943–52.
- Ward C, Garrett T. 2001. The relationship between the L1 and L2 domains of the insulin and epidermal growth factor receptors and leucine-rich repeat modules. *BMC Bioinformatics* **2**.
- Ward K a, Lazovich D, Hordinsky MK. 2012. Germline melanoma susceptibility and prognostic genes: a review of the literature. J Am Acad Dermatol 67: 1055–67.
- Weiner D, Kokai Y, Wada T, Cohen J, Williams W, Greene M. 1989. Linkage of tyrosine kinase activity with transforming ability of the p185neu oncoprotein. Oncogene 4: 1175–83.
- Weinstein IB, Joe A. 2008. Oncogene addiction. Cancer Res 68: 3077–80; discussion 3080.
- Williams CC, Allison JG, Vidal GA, Burow ME, Beckman BS, Marrero L, Jones FE. 2004. The ERBB4/HER4 receptor tyrosine kinase regulates gene expression by functioning as a STAT5A nuclear chaperone. J Cell Biol 167: 469–78.
- Williams NM, Preece A, Spurlock G, Norton N, Williams HJ, Zammit S, O'Donovan MC, Owen MJ. 2003. Support for genetic variation in neuregulin 1 and susceptibility to schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry* 8: 485–7.
- Wilson KJ, Gilmore JL, Foley J, Lemmon MA, Riese DJ. 2009. Functional selectivity of EGF family peptide growth factors: implications for cancer. *Pharmacol Ther* **122**: 1–8.
- Wolpowitz D, Mason TB, Dietrich P, Mendelsohn M, Talmage DA, Role LW. 2000. Cysteine-rich domain

isoforms of the neuregulin-1 gene are required for maintenance of peripheral synapses. *Neuron* **25**: 79–91.

- Woo R-S, Li X-M, Tao Y, Carpenter-Hyland E, Huang YZ, Weber J, Neiswender H, Dong X-P, Wu J, Gassmann M, et al. 2007. Neuregulin-1 enhances depolarization-induced GABA release. *Neuron* 54: 599–610.
- Xu S, Kitayama J, Yamashita H, Souma D, Nagawa H. 2008. Nuclear translocation of HER-4/cerbB-4 is significantly correlated with prognosis of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *J Surg Oncol* 97: 44–50.
- Yarden Y, Sliwkowski MX. 2001. Untangling the ErbB signalling network. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2: 127–37.
- Yu H, Pardoll D, Jove R. 2009. STATs in cancer inflammation and immunity: a leading role for STAT3. Nat Rev Cancer 9: 798–809.
- Zhang D, Sliwkowski MX, Mark M, Frantz G, Akita R, Sun Y, Hillan K, Crowley C, Brush J, Godowski PJ. 1997. Neuregulin-3 (NRG3): a novel neural tissueenriched protein that binds and activates ErbB4. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 94: 9562–7.
- Zhang K, Sun J, Liu N, Wen D, Chang D, Thomason A, Yoshinaga SK. 1996. Transformation of NIH 3T3 cells by HER3 or HER4 receptors requires the presence of HER1 or HER2. *J Biol Chem* 271: 3884–90.
- Zhang Q, Park E, Kani K, Landgraf R. 2012. Functional isolation of activated and unilaterally phosphorylated heterodimers of ERBB2 and ERBB3 as scaffolds in ligand-dependent signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A 109: 13237–42.
- Zhang X, Gureasko J, Shen K, Cole PA, Kuriyan J. 2006. An allosteric mechanism for activation of the kinase domain of epidermal growth factor receptor. *Cell* 125: 1137–49.
- Zhang X, Pickin KA, Bose R, Jura N, Cole PA, Kuriyan J. 2007. Inhibition of the EGF receptor by binding of MIG6 to an activating kinase domain interface. *Nature* **450**: 741–4.
- Zhao L, Vogt PK. 2008. Class I PI3K in oncogenic cellular transformation. Oncogene 27: 5486–96.
- Zhu Y, Sullivan LL, Nair SS, Williams CC, Pandey AK, Marrero L, Vadlamudi RK, Jones FE. 2006. Coregulation of estrogen receptor by ERBB4/HER4 establishes a growth-promoting autocrine signal in breast tumor cells. *Cancer Res* 66: 7991–8.